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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE FIFTH CIRCUIT 

 
 

No. 21-50276 
 
 

SYLVIA GONZALEZ, 
Plaintiff-Appellee, 

 
versus 

 
EDWARD TREVINO, II, MAYOR OF CASTLE HILLS, SUED 
IN HIS INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY; JOHN SIEMENS, CHIEF OF 
THE CASTLE HILLS POLICE DEPARTMENT, SUED IN HIS 
INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY; ALEXANDER WRIGHT, SUED IN 
HIS INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY, 

Defendants-Appellants. 
 
 

Appeal from the United States District Court 
for the Western District of Texas 

USDC No. 5:20-CV-1511 
 

 
ON PETITION FOR REHEARING EN BANC 

 
Before BARKSDALE, ENGELHARDT, and OLDHAM,  
Circuit Judges. 
 
 
 
PER CURIAM: 
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Treating the petition for rehearing en banc as a 
petition for panel rehearing (5TH CIR. R. 35 I.O.P.), the 
petition for panel rehearing is DENIED. The petition 
for rehearing en banc is DENIED because, at the re-
quest of one of its members, the court was polled, and 
a majority did not vote in favor of rehearing (FED. R. 
APP. P. 35 and 5TH CIR. R. 35). 

In the en banc poll, six judges voted in favor of re-
hearing (Smith, Higginson, Ho, Duncan, Oldham and 
Douglas), and ten voted against rehearing (Richman, 
Jones, Stewart, Elrod, Southwick, Haynes, Graves, 
Willett, Engelhardt and Wilson).
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JAMES C. HO, Circuit Judge, dissenting from  
denial of rehearing en banc: 

“[T]he most heinous act in which a democratic gov-
ernment can engage is to use its law enforcement ma-
chinery for political ends.” Laurence H. Silberman, 
Hoover’s Institution, WALL ST. J., July 20, 2005. And 
not just heinous—it’s also unconstitutional. 

The First Amendment is supposed to stop public 
officials from punishing citizens for expressing unpop-
ular views. In America, we don’t allow the police to 
arrest and jail our citizens for having the temerity to 
criticize or question the government. If the freedom of 
speech meant anything to our nation’s Founders, it 
meant that “it was beyond the power of the govern-
ment to punish speech that criticized the government 
in good faith.” Jud Campbell, Natural Rights and the 
First Amendment, 127 YALE L.J. 246, 309 (2017). 
“Criticism of government is at the very center of the 
constitutionally protected area of free discussion.” 
Rosenblatt v. Baer, 383 U.S. 75, 85 (1966). 

But it falls on the judiciary to ensure that the First 
Amendment is not reduced to a parchment promise.1 

 
1 See, e.g., The Federalist No. 48, at 313 (James Madison) 

(Clinton Rossiter ed., 1961) (“a mere demarcation on parchment 
of the constitutional limits of the several departments is not a 
sufficient guard against . . . encroachments”); Considering the 
Role of Judges Under the Constitution of the United States: Hear-
ing Before the S. Comm. on the Judiciary, S. Hrg. 112–137, at 6–
7 (2011) (statement of Justice Scalia) (“Every banana republic 
has a bill of rights. . . . The bill of rights of the former [Soviet 
Union] was much better than ours. . . . Of course, they were just 
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Few officials will admit that they abuse the coercive 
powers of government to punish and silence their crit-
ics. They’re often able to invent some reason to justify 
their actions. So courts must be vigilant in preventing 
officers from concocting legal theories to arrest citi-
zens for stating unpopular viewpoints. 

That’s why the Supreme Court has made clear 
that a citizen “need not prove the absence of probable 
cause to maintain a claim of retaliatory arrest” under 
the First Amendment. Lozman v. City of Riviera 
Beach, 138 S. Ct. 1945, 1955 (2018). There’s no “un-
yielding requirement to show the absence of probable 
cause” to state a claim of First Amendment retalia-
tion. Nieves v. Bartlett, 139 S. Ct. 1715, 1727 (2019). 

And for good reason. There are countless situa-
tions in which “officers have probable cause to make 
arrests, but typically exercise their discretion not to 
do so.” Id. As a result, there’s a meaningful “‘risk that 
some police officers may exploit the arrest power as a 
means of suppressing speech.’” Id. (quoting Lozman, 
138 S. Ct. at 1953). 

What’s more, this risk has never been more prev-
alent than today. “[C]riminal laws have grown so ex-
uberantly and come to cover so much previously inno-
cent conduct that almost anyone can be arrested for 
something.” Id. at 1730 (Gorsuch, J., concurring in 
part and dissenting in part). “[T]he average busy pro-
fessional in this country wakes up in the morning, 

 
words on paper, what our Framers would have called ‘a parch-
ment guarantee.’”). 
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goes to work, comes home, takes care of personal and 
family obligations, and then goes to sleep, unaware 
than he or she likely committed several crimes that 
day.” Harvey A. Silverglate, THREE FELONIES A DAY: 
HOW THE FEDS TARGET THE INNOCENT XXX (2009). 
“[P]rosecutors can find some arguable federal crime to 
apply to just about any one of us, even for the most 
seemingly innocuous conduct.” Id. See also Paul Lar-
kin & Michael Mukasey, The Perils of Overcriminali-
zation, HERITAGE FOUNDATION, Feb. 12, 2015. 

In other words, the opportunity for public officials 
to weaponize the criminal justice system against their 
political adversaries has never been greater. 

So it’s up to the judiciary to make sure that those 
who hold positions of power stay in their lane. Courts 
must make certain that law enforcement officials ex-
ercise their significant coercive powers to combat 
crime—not to police political discourse. 

That’s what the Supreme Court recently reminded 
us in Lozman and Nieves. Unfortunately, the panel 
majority failed to uphold these principles and instead 
granted qualified immunity to the defendants in this 
case. I respectfully dissent from the denial of rehear-
ing en banc. 
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I. 

At this stage of the proceedings, we accept as true 
the following allegations as stated in the complaint: 

Sylvia Gonzalez is an elderly retiree from Castle 
Hills, Texas. Like many of her fellow citizens, she was 
unhappy about some aspect of her local government. 
But unlike most, she decided to do something about 
it. She ran for city council against a well-connected 
incumbent. And she won. 

During the campaign, Gonzalez heard numerous 
complaints about the city manager, whom the mayor 
had appointed to handle the day-to-day business of 
running the city. 

After taking office, Gonzalez organized a petition 
that called for the reinstatement of the previous city 
manager—and thus, implicitly, the dismissal of the 
incumbent city manager. The petition noted that the 
current city manager “talked about [fixing] the 
streets,” but had not “fixed a single street.” By con-
trast, the previous city manager “oversaw, from start 
to finish, over a dozen street projects.” 

More than three hundred Castle Hills residents 
signed Gonzalez’s petition calling for the city council 
to “FIX OUR STREETS” by removing the current city 
manager. 

At Gonzalez’s first city council meeting as an 
elected member, a resident of Castle Hill submitted 
Gonzalez’s petition to the mayor. This triggered a 
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contentious debate about the current city manager. 
The debate spilled over to the next day. 

At the end of the next day’s meeting, Gonzalez 
picked up various papers off the table and placed 
them in her binder. While Gonzalez was chatting af-
ter the meeting, the police captain tapped her on the 
shoulder and explained that the mayor (who had sat 
next to her during the meeting) wanted to have a 
word. The police captain escorted Gonzalez to the 
mayor. The mayor then asked Gonzalez where the pe-
tition was. She answered: “Don’t you have it? It was 
turned into you yesterday.” At the mayor’s prompting, 
Gonzalez looked for the petition in her binder and 
found it among other papers that had been beside her 
on the table. As Gonzalez handed the petition back to 
him, the mayor said: “You probably picked it up by 
mistake.” 

The mayor, the police chief, and a special detective 
then hatched a plan to charge Sylvia with a crime in 
order to remove her from office. The police chief dep-
utized his close friend, a private attorney, as a special 
detective to investigate Gonzalez. Following the in-
vestigation, the special detective filed an arrest affi-
davit alleging that Gonzalez had committed the crime 
of “intentionally destroy[ing], conceal[ing], re-
mov[ing], or otherwise impair[ing] the verity, legibil-
ity, or availability of a governmental record.” TEX. 
PEN. CODE ANN. § 37.10(a)(3). 

“The plan then entered its next phase: the arrest. 
[The] ‘Special Detective’ . . . lived up to his title. He 
did three special things to ensure that Sylvia would 
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be arrested and jailed rather than simply asked to ap-
pear before a judge.” Gonzalez v. Trevino, 42 F.4th 
487, 496 (5th Cir. 2022) (Oldham, J., dissenting). 
First, the special detective got a warrant rather than 
a summons. (A summons is standard for nonviolent 
offenses—only a warrant can result in jailtime.) Sec-
ond, the special detective circumvented the district 
attorney by using a procedure normally reserved for 
emergencies or violent felonies: He walked the war-
rant directly to a magistrate. Third, the special detec-
tive prevented Gonzalez from using the satellite book-
ing function, which facilitates booking, processing, 
and releasing nonviolent offenders without jailtime. 
Gonzalez’s warrant did not go through any of the tra-
ditional channels, so it wasn’t in the satellite booking 
system. 

Gonzalez turned herself in as soon as she learned 
about the warrant for her arrest. She then spent a day 
in jail, handcuffed to a cold metal bench and wearing 
an orange jail shirt. 

During her jailtime, she was forced to forgo use of 
a restroom—as a modest 72-year-old retiree, she was 
not comfortable using a restroom that had no doors 
and no toilet paper. In addition, her jailers refused to 
let her stand up and stretch her legs. 

The district attorney ultimately dropped the 
charges. But only after Gonzelez’s name and photo 
were splashed across local media for days. 

The arrest left Gonzalez so traumatized that she 
resolved never to organize a petition or to run for 
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office ever again—precisely what her tormenters-in-
office conspired to achieve. 

II. 

A retaliatory arrest can give rise to a First Amend-
ment claim even if the arrest was supported by prob-
able cause. See, e.g., Lozman, 138 S. Ct. at 1955 (“Loz-
man need not prove the absence of probable cause to 
maintain a claim of retaliatory arrest”); Nieves, 139 S. 
Ct. at 1727 (same). 

To illustrate why respect for the First Amendment 
demands that probable cause pose no impenetrable 
barrier to a retaliation claim, the Supreme Court has 
offered the following simple example: “[A]t many in-
tersections, jaywalking is endemic but rarely results 
in arrest.” Nieves, 139 S. Ct. at 1727. So “[i]f an indi-
vidual who has been vocally complaining about police 
conduct is arrested for jaywalking at such an intersec-
tion, it would seem insufficiently protective of First 
Amendment rights to dismiss the individual’s retalia-
tory arrest claim on the ground that there was un-
doubted probable cause for the arrest.” Id. 

Accordingly, a plaintiff may proceed on a First 
Amendment retaliatory arrest claim so long as he 
“presents objective evidence that he was arrested 
when otherwise similarly situated individuals not en-
gaged in the same sort of protected speech had not 
been.” Id. 

It’s not difficult to imagine different forms of evi-
dence that might be used to prove this point. 
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To take one example, a plaintiff might identify 
particular individuals who had engaged in the same 
acts, but not the same speech, and yet were not ar-
rested—what the panel majority called “comparative 
evidence.” 42 F.4th at 492. 

But alternatively, a plaintiff might present evi-
dence that the underlying statute had never been 
used under analogous circumstances, despite the fact 
that such conduct is commonplace—what the panel 
dissent called “negative evidence.” Id. at 506 (Old-
ham, J., dissenting). 

The latter is what Gonzales presented here. As the 
panel dissent noted, “government employees rou-
tinely—with intent and without it—take stacks of pa-
pers before, during, and after meetings.” Id. Gonzalez 
made clear in her complaint that she would present 
objective evidence that no one has ever been arrested 
for doing what she did. She reviewed all of the charges 
brought in the county during the last decade and con-
cluded that “neither the misdemeanor tampering 
statute, nor its felony counterpart, has ever been used 
to criminally charge someone for allegedly trying to 
steal a nonbinding or expressive document, such as 
the petition at issue in this case.” As she explained in 
her complaint: 

Of 215 grand jury felony indictments ob-
tained under the tampering statute at is-
sue in this case, not one had an allega-
tion even closely resembling the one 
mounted against [Gonzalez]. By far the 
largest chunk of the indictments 
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involved accusations of either using or 
making fake government identification 
documents: altered driver’s licenses, an-
other person’s ID, temporary identifica-
tion cards, public safety permits, green 
cards, or social security numbers. A few 
others concerned the misuse of financial 
information, like writing of fake checks 
or stealing banking information. The 
rest are outliers, but all very different 
from Sylvia’s situation. They concern 
hiding evidence of murder, cheating on a 
government-issued exam, and using a 
fake certificate of title, among others. 

So as the panel dissent concluded, “common sense 
dictates that [Gonzalez’s] negative assertion amounts 
to direct evidence that similarly situated individuals 
not engaged in the same sort of protected activity had 
not been arrested.” Id. Gonzalez showed that county 
officials decided to arrest her, even though they usu-
ally exercise their discretion not to make such arrests. 
And that’s all Nieves requires. 

Yet the panel majority dismissed Gonzalez’s claim 
on the ground that she “does not offer evidence of 
other similarly situated individuals who mishandled 
a government petition but were not prosecuted under 
Texas Penal Code § 37.10(a)(3).” Id. at 492. According 
to the majority, Nieves “requires some comparative 
evidence.” Id. at 493. 

But that misreads Nieves. Recall the jaywalking 
example: “an individual who has been vocally 
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complaining about police conduct is arrested for jay-
walking.” 139 S. Ct. at 1727. As the panel dissent ex-
plains, “[i]t’s not clear that there will always (or ever) 
be available comparative evidence of jaywalkers 
[who] weren’t arrested. Rather, the retaliatory-arrest-
jaywalking plaintiff always (or almost always) must 
appeal to the commonsense proposition that jaywalk-
ing happens all the time, and jaywalking arrests hap-
pen virtually never (or never).” Gonzalez, 42 F.4th at 
503 (Oldham, J., dissenting). I agree that it makes lit-
tle sense to read Nieves to require comparative evi-
dence. 

III. 

The panel majority’s reading of Nieves is not just 
mistaken—it also creates an admitted split with the 
Seventh Circuit. See 42 F.4th at 492–93 (“We recog-
nize that one of our sister circuits has taken a broader 
view of [Nieves] . . . . We do not adopt this more lax 
reading.”). 

As the Seventh Circuit has observed, Nieves does 
not “adopt[] a rigid rule that requires, in all cases, a 
particular form of comparison-based evidence.” Lund 
v. City of Rockford, 956 F.3d 938, 945 (7th Cir. 2020). 
Rather, Nieves requires “objective evidence”—and in 
determining what counts, “common sense must pre-
vail.” Id. 

Under Nieves, comparator evidence is certainly 
sufficient, but it’s not necessary for a retaliation claim 
to proceed. All Nieves requires is “objective evidence 
that [the plaintiff] was arrested when otherwise 
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similarly situated individuals . . . had not been.” 139 
S. Ct. at 1727. A plaintiff can point to specific individ-
uals who engaged in the same prohibited conduct yet 
were not arrested. But a plaintiff can alternatively 
point to other evidence that the conduct, though com-
mon, rarely results in arrest. This latter type of evi-
dence works because “[e]vidence that an arrest has 
never happened before (i.e., a negative assertion) can 
support the proposition that there are instances 
where similarly situated individuals . . . hadn’t been 
arrested.” Gonzalez, 42 F.4th 487 at 505 (Oldham, J., 
dissenting). 

IV. 

“[T]he First Amendment’s guarantee of free 
speech is not just a legal doctrine. It represents the 
most fundamental value in American democracy. A 
national commitment to uninhibited political speech 
is a crucial aspect of our country’s culture.” Laurence 
H. Silberman, Free Speech Is the Most Fundamental 
American Value, WALL ST. J., Sep. 30, 2022.  
So “[u]nless all American institutions are committed 
to free political speech, I fear the strain on the  
First Amendment’s guarantees will become  
unbearable.” Id. 

We should’ve championed these principles and 
granted rehearing en banc in this matter. Instead, we 
have chosen to leave the decision of the panel majority 
intact. 

But that decision not only misreads Nieves and 
thereby creates an admitted circuit split. It also 
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under-protects the American people against viola-
tions of their First Amendment rights. As a result, cit-
izens in our circuit are now vulnerable to public offi-
cials who choose to weaponize criminal statutes 
against citizens whose political views they disfavor. 

Moreover, I fear that this latest en banc denial 
continues to take our court down the wrong path. Our 
circuit’s en banc decisions continue to get the First 
Amendment not only wrong, but backwards. 

We deny First Amendment protection when it 
comes to sincere acts of political advocacy—but we in-
voke First Amendment protection when it comes to 
demonstrated acts of political corruption. Compare, 
e.g., Zimmerman v. City of Austin, 881 F.3d 378 (5th 
Cir. 2018), with United States v. Hamilton, 46 F.4th 
389, 398 n.3 (5th Cir. 2022). We presume corruption 
where we should presume innocence—but we excuse 
corruption where the evidence is extravagant. See id. 
But see United States v. Hamilton, __ F.4th __, __  
(5th Cir. 2023) (Ho, J., dissenting from denial of re-
hearing en banc) (“[O]ur circuit is getting the First 
Amendment backwards in case after case. The free-
dom of speech guaranteed to every citizen protects po-
litical advocacy—not corruption.”); Zimmerman v. 
City of Austin, 888 F.3d 163, 164 (5th Cir. 2018) (Ho, 
J., dissenting from denial of rehearing en banc). 

We reject our citizens when they claim a First 
Amendment right to criticize their government—but 
we embrace public officials who claim a First Amend-
ment right not to be criticized by others. Compare, 
e.g., Gonzalez, 42 F.4th 487, with Wilson v. Houston 
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Community College System, 955 F.3d 490 (5th Cir. 
2020), rev’d, 142 S. Ct. 1253 (2022). But see Wilson v. 
Houston Community College System, 966 F.3d 341, 
345 (5th Cir. 2020) (Ho, J., dissenting from denial of 
rehearing en banc) (“The First Amendment guaran-
tees freedom of speech, not freedom from speech. It 
secures the right to criticize, not the right not to be 
criticized.”). 

We worry about preserving the rights of violent 
protesters—but not the rights of people of faith. Com-
pare, e.g., Doe v. Mckesson, 947 F.3d 874 (5th Cir. 
2020) (eight votes to revive First Amendment defense 
of violent protest), with East Texas Baptist University 
v. Burwell, 807 F.3d 630 (5th Cir. 2015) (only four 
votes to revive religious liberty challenge to the Af-
fordable Care Act). See also Morgan v. Swanson, 659 
F.3d 359 (5th Cir. 2011) (en banc) (denying relief to 
evangelical Christian students who were prohibited 
from expressing their faith to other students at any 
time while at school).2 

 
2 Compare our en banc decision in Morgan with our en banc 

rehearing denial in Oliver v. Arnold, 19 F.4th 843 (5th Cir. 2021). 
In both cases, public school students expressed religious views 
that school officials sought to ostracize. In Morgan, we sided with 
the school. In Oliver, we sided with the student. Religious liberty 
experts have described Oliver as “the Fifth Circuit’s redemption 
for its mistake in Morgan.” Hiram Sasser, Fifth Circuit Gets It 
Right in Arnold Decision, Federalist Soc’y, Dec. 20, 2021, 
https://fedsoc.org/commentary/fedsoc-blog/fifth-circuit-gets-it-
right-in-arnold-decision.  But our decision in Oliver triggered 
sharp rebuke and opposition from seven members of the court. 
See, e.g., 19 F.4th at 859, 862 (Duncan, J., dissenting from denial 
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V. 

Even worse, we’re not just getting the First 
Amendment backwards. We’re also getting qualified 
immunity backwards. Just compare the denial of en 
banc rehearing here with some of our other recent en 
banc decisions. 

We grant qualified immunity to officials who tram-
ple on basic First Amendment rights—but deny qual-
ified immunity to officers who act in good faith to stop 
mass shooters and other violent criminals. Compare, 
e.g., Gonzalez, 42 F.4th 487; Morgan, 659 F.3d 359 
(granting qualified immunity to principal who prohib-
ited students from expressing their faith while at 
school), with Cole v. Carson, 935 F.3d 444 (5th Cir. 
2019) (en banc) (denying qualified immunity to police 
officers who took lethal action against a student who 
was about to shoot up his high school); Winzer v. Kauf-
man County, 940 F.3d 900 (5th Cir. 2019) (denying 
rehearing en banc in case against police department 

 
of rehearing en banc) (disparaging decision as a “dumpster fire” 
and urging federal judges to defer to school boards). 

Similarly, in Sambrano v. United Airlines, Inc., 2022 WL 
486610 (5th Cir. 2022), the panel majority allowed people of faith 
to seek preliminary injunctive relief to vindicate their religious 
objections to a COVID-19 vaccine mandate. We denied en banc 
rehearing. But as in Oliver, our decision in Sambrano triggered 
sharp rebuke and opposition from four members of the court. See 
Sambrano, 2022 WL 486610, at *28 (Smith, J., dissenting) (dis-
paraging decision as an “orgy of jurisprudential violence”); Sam-
brano v. United Airlines, Inc., 45 F.4th 877 (5th Cir. 2022). 
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for lethal actions taken during active shooting inci-
dent). 

Accordingly, officers who punish innocent citizens 
are immune—but officers who protect innocent citi-
zens are forced to stand trial. Officers who deliber-
ately target citizens who hold disfavored political 
views face no accountability—but officers who make 
split-second, life-and-death decisions to stop violent 
criminals must put their careers on the line for their 
heroism. But see Hoggard v. Rhodes, 141 S. Ct. 2421, 
2422 (2021) (Thomas, J., respecting denial of cert.) 
(“But why should university officers, who have time 
to make calculated choices about enacting or enforc-
ing unconstitutional policies, receive the same protec-
tion as a police officer who makes a split-second deci-
sion to use force in a dangerous setting?”). 

Put simply, “we grant immunity when we should 
deny—and we deny immunity when we should grant.” 
Horvath v. City of Leander, 946 F.3d 787, 795 (5th Cir. 
2020) (Ho, J., concurring in the judgment in part and 
dissenting in part). Indeed, ours is the rare circuit 
that has been summarily reversed by the Supreme 
Court for both wrongly granting and wrongly denying 
qualified immunity. See Tolan v. Cotton, 572 U.S. 650 
(2014), summarily rev’g 713 F.3d 299 (5th Cir. 2013); 
Mullenix v. Luna, 577 U.S. 7 (2015), summarily rev’g 
773 F.3d 712 (5th Cir. 2014); Taylor v. Riojas, 141 S. 
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Ct. 52 (2020), summarily rev’g 946 F.3d 211 (5th Cir. 
2020).3  

This pattern is not just disconcerting to me. It’s 
also disconcerting to a broad coalition of civil rights 
organizations—including organizations that disagree 
with one another over countless issues, but agree that 
there’s something amiss about our court’s approach to 
qualified immunity and the First Amendment. In 
Morgan, for example, the amicus coalition led by the 
First Liberty Institute included the American Center 
for Law and Justice, the American Civil Liberties Un-
ion, the Becket Fund for Religious Liberty, the Cato 
Institute, Christian Legal Society, the Claremont In-
stitute, the National Association of Evangelicals, and 
Wallbuilders.4 

These respected public interest organizations no 
doubt have limited resources that they must deploy 
wisely. Yet they all took the time and effort to make 

 
3 The Tenth Circuit appears to be the only other circuit that 

the Supreme Court has summarily reversed in recent years for 
both wrongly granting and wrongly denying qualified immunity. 
See White v. Pauly, 580 U.S. 73 (2017), summarily rev’g 814 F.3d 
1060 (10th Cir. 2016); Sause v. Bauer, 138 S. Ct. 2561 (2018), 
summarily rev’g 859 F.3d 1270 (10th Cir. 2017); City of 
Tahlequah v. Bond, 142 S. Ct. 9 (2021), summarily rev’g 981 F.3d 
808 (10th Cir. 2020). 

4 A similarly diverse group of amici appears in Villarreal v. 
City of Laredo, 52 F.4th 265 (5th Cir. 2022), including such na-
tionally respected civil rights organizations and public interest 
groups as Alliance Defending Freedom, Americans for Prosper-
ity Foundation, the Cato Institute, the Constitutional Accounta-
bility Center, the Electronic Freedom Foundation, the First Lib-
erty Institute, and the Institute for Justice. 
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their views known to our court in Morgan. “It is no 
accident that several religiously affiliated organiza-
tions have filed amicus briefs in support of [the First 
Amendment] claim” and “uniformly decry the poten-
tial for misuse” of government power to “harass” and 
“uniquely burden religious organizations.” Whole 
Woman’s Health v. Smith, 896 F.3d 362, 370, 373–74 
(5th Cir. 2018). 

* * * 

It’s heartwarming that, in these divisive times, an 
ideologically diverse group of leading organizations 
can still unite behind the cause of freedom of speech 
and tolerance for conflicting viewpoints. It’s unfortu-
nate that our court was unable to unite behind that 
same cause today. I respectfully dissent from the de-
nial of rehearing en banc. 
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE FIFTH CIRCUIT 

 
 

No. 21-50276 
 
 

SYLVIA GONZALEZ, 
 

Plaintiff-Appellee, 
 

versus 
 

EDWARD TREVINO, II, MAYOR OF CASTLE HILLS, SUED 
IN HIS INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY; JOHN SIEMENS, CHIEF OF 
THE CASTLE HILLS POLICE DEPARTMENT, SUED IN HIS 
INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY; ALEXANDER WRIGHT, SUED IN 
HIS INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY, 

 
Defendants-Appellants. 

 
 

 
Appeal from the United States District Court 

for the Western District of Texas 
USDC No. 5:20-CV-1511 

 
 

Before BARKSDALE, ENGELHARDT, and OLDHAM,  
Circuit Judges. 

 
KURT D. ENGELHARDT, Circuit Judge: 
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In this case, we are confronted with a dilemma 
that the Supreme Court has wrestled with recently: 
how are we to treat a plaintiff’s claims when she as-
serts retaliatory arrest for engaging in conduct pro-
tected by the First Amendment, but concedes that 
there exists probable cause for the arrest? As we are 
bound by the Court’s precedent, we hold that Gonza-
lez fails to establish a violation of her constitutional 
rights. 

I 

Sylvia Gonzalez is a resident of Castle Hills, 
Texas. Castle Hills, a city of fewer than 5000 resi-
dents, is governed by a five-member city council that 
appoints a city manager to handle the day-to-day 
business of the city. In 2019, Gonzalez was elected to 
a seat on the city council. During her campaign, Gon-
zalez learned that many residents of Castle Hills were 
unhappy with the performance of the contemporary 
city manager. As her first act in office, Gonzalez par-
ticipated in organizing a nonbinding petition that 
called for the removal of the city manager from office. 
On May 21, Gonzalez attended her first city council 
meeting as a council member, at which a resident sub-
mitted the petition to the council. The council meeting 
grew contentious and was extended through the next 
day. 

After the meeting ended, Gonzalez left her belong-
ings on the dais and went to speak with a constituent. 
At one point during this conversation, a police officer 
approached Gonzalez and informed her that Mayor 
Edward Trevino wished to speak with her. Gonzalez 
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returned to the dais, and Trevino inquired where the 
petition was located. Trevino asked Gonzalez to look 
for the petition in her binder, and, to her alleged sur-
prise, she found the petition there. 

Two days later, Castle Hills chief-of-police John 
Siemens informed Sergeant Paul Turner that Trevino 
would contact Turner. Trevino wanted to file a crimi-
nal complaint alleging that Gonzalez took the petition 
without consent. Turner began an investigation, 
which yielded no returns. Siemens then asked special 
detective Alex Wright to take over the investigation. 
Wright interviewed two witnesses, including Trevino, 
and requested an interview of Gonzalez, which she re-
fused. Wright determined that Gonzalez committed a 
violation of Texas Penal Code §§ 37.10(a)(3) and (c)(1), 
which provide that “[a] person commits an offense if 
he . . . intentionally destroys, conceals, removes, or 
otherwise impairs the verity, legibility, or availability 
of a governmental record.” 

Wright then obtained a warrant against Gonzalez 
from a magistrate. The process that Wright used was 
lawful but atypical, as he: (1) chose to secure a war-
rant, rather than a summons, for a nonviolent crime, 
and (2) circumvented the district attorney by walking 
the warrant directly to the magistrate. According to 
Gonzalez, the use of this process prevented her from 
using the satellite booking function of the Bexar 
County jail system, making her unable to avoid 
spending time in jail when arrested. Wright’s affida-
vit in support of the warrant included statements 
about the speech in her petition, noting that “[f]rom 
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her very first [council] meeting in May of 2019 [Gon-
zalez] (along with another alderwoman) has been 
openly antagonistic to the city manager, Ryan 
Rapelye, wanting desperately to get him fired.” The 
petition also described, in significant detail, the result 
of Wright’s investigation. Wright narrates a video of 
the meeting which he characterizes as “clearly 
show[ing] Defendant Gonzalez intentionally conceal-
ing and removing the Petition[] from city custody.”  
According to Wright, the video also shows that Gon-
zalez was reluctant to return the petition from her 
binder. And the affidavit speculates on a possible mo-
tive for Gonzalez taking the petition: a resident 
claimed that Gonzalez got her to sign the petition un-
der false pretenses. 

Gonzalez alleges that the action against her under 
Texas Penal Code § 37.10(a)(3) for her conduct is un-
precedented. She asserts that “a review of [the] mis-
demeanor and felony data from Bexar County over 
the past decade makes it clear that the misdemeanor 
tampering statute has never been used in Bexar 
County to criminally charge someone for trying to 
steal a nonbinding or expressive document.” She con-
tinues, “[o]f 215 grand jury felony indictments ob-
tained under the tampering statute at issue in this 
case, not one had an allegation even closely resem-
bling the one mounted against [Gonzalez].” Gonzalez 
notes that most indictments under the statute in-
volved fake government IDs, such as driver’s licenses, 
and that misdemeanor data is similar. 
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When Gonzalez learned of the warrant for her ar-
rest, she turned herself in. She was booked on July 18 
and spent the evening in jail. She is no longer on the 
city council, and she alleges that she “will never again 
help organize a petition or participate in any other 
public expression of her political speech,” nor will she 
ever “again run for any political office.” Gonzalez also 
asserts that Trevino and others engaged in other ac-
tivities to attempt to remove her from the council, in-
cluding having her removed from office based on a 
“made-up technicality,” and filing a civil lawsuit 
against her alleging incompetence and official mis-
conduct. 

Gonzalez sued Trevino, Siemens, Wright, and the 
City of Castle Hills, asserting two claims under 42 
U.S.C. § 1983 for violation of her First and Fourteenth 
Amendment rights. The Defendants moved to dismiss 
based on the independent-intermediary doctrine and 
on qualified immunity grounds. The district court de-
nied Defendants’ motion, finding that Gonzalez’s 
claims could proceed notwithstanding the existence of 
probable case. The individual Defendants appealed. 

II 

“[A] district court’s denial of a claim of qualified 
immunity, to the extent that it turns on an issue of 
law, is an appealable ‘final decision’ within the mean-
ing of 28 U.S.C. § 1291 notwithstanding the absence 
of a final judgment.” Mitchell v. Forsyth, 472 U.S. 511, 
530 (1985). Accordingly, under the collateral order 
doctrine, we have jurisdiction to review this interloc-
utory appeal of the district court’s denial of qualified 
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immunity. Backe v. LeBlanc, 691 F.3d 645, 648 (5th 
Cir. 2012). 

This court reviews denial of a motion to dismiss 
based on qualified immunity de novo. Kelson v. Clark, 
1 F.4th 411, 416 (5th Cir. 2021). “In doing so, ‘we must 
accept all well-pleaded facts as true and draw all rea-
sonable inferences in favor of the nonmoving party.’” 
Id. (quoting Morgan v. Swanson, 659 F.3d 359, 370 
(5th Cir. 2011) (en banc)). The complaint must contain 
sufficient facts to “allow[] the court to draw the rea-
sonable inference that the defendant is liable for the 
misconduct alleged.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 
678 (2009) (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 
U.S. 544, 556 (2007)). But a complaint’s “‘naked asser-
tion[s]’ devoid of ‘further factual enhancement’” will 
not suffice, see id. (quotation omitted), and courts “are 
not bound to accept as true a legal conclusion couched 
as a factual allegation.” Papasan v. Allain, 478 U.S. 
265, 286 (1986); see also Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (hold-
ing that “the tenet that a court must accept as true all 
of the allegations contained in a complaint is inappli-
cable to legal conclusions”). “[A] plaintiff seeking to 
overcome qualified immunity must plead specific 
facts that both allow the court to draw the reasonable 
inference that the defendant is liable for the harm he 
has alleged and that defeat a qualified immunity de-
fense with equal specificity.” Backe, 691 F.3d at 648. 
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III 

Gonzalez brings claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 
against Trevino, Siemens, and Wright on the grounds 
that she was arrested in retaliation for her protected 
speech. “To state a claim under § 1983, a plaintiff 
must allege the violation of a right secured by the 
Constitution and laws of the United States, and must 
show that the alleged deprivation was committed by 
a person acting under color of state law.” West v. At-
kins, 487 U.S. 42, 48 (1988). Appellants assert a de-
fense of qualified immunity. “There are two aspects to 
qualified immunity: whether the plaintiff has alleged 
a violation of a [statutory or] constitutional right and 
whether the right at issue was ‘clearly established’ at 
the time of the alleged violation.” Cope v. Cogdill, 3 
F.4th 198, 204 (5th Cir. 2021) (citing Pearson v. Cal-
lahan, 555 U.S. 223, 232 (2009)). 

The question before us is whether Gonzalez has al-
leged a violation of her constitutional rights when 
probable cause existed for her allegedly retaliatory ar-
rest. Appellants argue the existence of probable cause 
dooms Gonzalez’s claims. Gonzalez does not dispute 
that probable cause existed to arrest her but argues 
that it does not bar her suit.5 

 
5 Appellants frame their arguments in terms of our inde-

pendent-intermediary doctrine, which dictates that “if an inde-
pendent intermediary, such as a justice of the peace, authorizes 
an arrest, then the initiating party cannot be liable for false ar-
rest.” Shaw v. Villanueva, 918 F.3d 414, 417 (5th Cir. 2019). Be-
cause Gonzalez does not contest the existence of probable cause, 
this case may be resolved without resorting to this doctrine. See 
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The Supreme Court addressed the importance of 
probable cause to retaliatory arrest cases in Nieves v. 
Bartlett, 139 S. Ct. 1715 (2019). Nieves dealt with an 
allegedly retaliatory arrest at an extreme sporting 
event in Alaska. Id. at 1720. Russell Bartlett quar-
reled with two police officers and claimed that he was 
arrested partly for refusing to speak with one of the 
officers. Id. 1720–21. The Court held that the exist-
ence of probable cause to arrest Bartlett necessarily 
defeated his retaliatory arrest claim. Id. at 1724. It 
reiterated the general rule it announced in Hartman 
v. Moore, 547 U.S. 250 (2006), that in retaliatory pros-
ecution cases a plaintiff must plead and prove the ab-
sence of probable cause for the underlying criminal 
charge. Id. It then held that rule applied to retaliatory 
arrest claims both because “[o]fficers frequently must 
make ‘split-second judgments’ when deciding whether 
to arrest, and the content and manner of a suspect’s 
speech may convey vital information,” and because 
“evidence of the presence or absence of probable cause 
for the arrest will be available in virtually every re-
taliatory arrest case.” Id. at 1724 (citations omitted). 

However, the Supreme Court carved out a narrow 
exception to the general rule that the existence of 
probable cause will defeat a retaliatory arrest claim. 
Under this exception, plaintiff need not plead lack of 

 
Buehler v. City of Austin/Austin Police Dep’t, 824 F.3d 548, 553 
(5th Cir. 2016) (holding that the independent-intermediary doc-
trine only “becomes relevant when . . . a plaintiff’s claims depend 
on a lack of probable cause to arrest him”). The finding of the 
independent magistrate further demonstrates that probable 
cause existed for Gonzalez’s arrest here. 
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probable cause “where officers have probable cause to 
make arrests, but typically exercise their discretion 
not to do so.” Id. at 1727. This is because “[i]n such 
cases, an unyielding requirement to show the absence 
of probable cause could pose ‘a risk that some police 
officers may exploit the arrest power as a means of 
suppressing speech.’” Id. (quoting Lozman v. City of 
Riviera Beach, 138 S. Ct. 1945, 1953–54) (2018)). The 
Court provided the example of jaywalking, which it 
noted “is endemic but rarely results in arrest.” Id. It 
continued, “[i]f an individual who has been vocally 
complaining about police conduct is arrested for jay-
walking,” the claim should not be dismissed despite 
the existence of probable cause because “[i]n such a 
case, . . . probable cause does little to prove or disprove 
the causal connection between animus and injury.” 
Id. The Court “conclude[d] that the no-probable-cause 
requirement should not apply when a plaintiff pre-
sents objective evidence that he was arrested when 
otherwise similarly situated individuals not engaged 
in the same sort of protected speech had not been.” Id. 
All parties agree that Nieves governs this case; they 
differ, however, on whether this “case squeezes 
through the crack of an opening that Nieves left ajar.” 
Lund v. City of Rockford, 956 F.3d 938, 944 (7th Cir. 
2020). 

Gonzalez cannot take advantage of the Nieves ex-
ception because she has failed to “present[] objective 
evidence that [s]he was arrested when otherwise sim-
ilarly situated individuals not engaged in the same 
sort of protected speech had not been.” 139 S. Ct. at 
1727. Gonzalez does not offer evidence of other 
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similarly situated individuals who mishandled a gov-
ernment petition but were not prosecuted under 
Texas Penal Code § 37.10(a)(3). Rather, the evidence 
she offers is that virtually everyone prosecuted under 
§ 37.10(a)(3) was prosecuted for conduct different 
from hers. The inference she asks us to draw is that 
because no one else has been prosecuted for similar 
conduct, her arrest must have been motivated by her 
speech. But the plain language of Nieves requires 
comparative evidence, because it required “objective 
evidence” of “otherwise similarly situated individu-
als” who engaged in the “same” criminal conduct but 
were not arrested. Id. The evidence Gonzalez provides 
here comes up short. 

We recognize that one of our sister circuits has 
taken a broader view of the Nieves exception and held 
that “the [Nieves] majority does not appear to be 
adopting a rigid rule that requires, in all cases, a par-
ticular form of comparison-based evidence.” Lund, 
956 F.3d at 945. The Seventh Circuit came to this con-
clusion primarily in reliance on Justice Gorsuch’s con-
currence in part and Justice Sotomayor’s dissent in 
Nieves. Id. at 944–45. We do not adopt this more lax 
reading of the exception. Instead, the best reading of 
the majority’s opinion compels the opposite approach. 
The Court’s language was careful and explicit: it re-
quired “objective evidence” of “otherwise similarly sit-
uated individuals” who engaged in the same criminal 
conduct but were not arrested. Nieves, 139 S. Ct. at 
1727. The most reasonable reading of this language is 
that some comparative evidence is required to invoke 
this “narrow” exception. Id. And importantly, the 
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majority had the benefit of Justice Gorsuch’s concur-
rence in part and dissent in part as well as and Jus-
tice Sotomayor’s dissent when crafting the exception. 
Had the majority wished to soften or broaden the lan-
guage of the exception in response to those criticisms, 
it could have done so. Indeed, the driving reason for 
Justice Sotomayor’s dissent seems to be that she read 
the majority opinion the same way we do: as requiring 
that a plaintiff produce some comparative-based evi-
dence. See id. at 1739 (Sotomayor, J., dissenting).6 

In sum, the plain language of the Nieves exception 
requires evidence that Gonzalez has not provided. 
Lacking such evidence, Nieves tells us that Gonzalez’s 
claims fail because probable cause existed to arrest 
her. 

Gonzalez also relies on another Supreme Court 
case to argue that her claim may proceed notwith-
standing probable cause. In Lozman v. City of Riviera 
Beach, 138 S. Ct. 1945 (2018), the Supreme Court 
dealt with a case involving Fane Lozman, a citizen of 
Riviera Beach. Like Gonzalez, Lozman was an out-
spoken critic of local city officials. According to Loz-
man, the city council hatched a plan to intimidate him 

 
6 The dissent offers a thoughtful but different reading of 

Nieves. But the dissent’s reading invokes the same concerns ex-
pressed in Justice Sotomayor’s dissent and Justice Gorsuch’s 
separate opinion. The dissent also contends that Nieves may not 
be applicable here because this case did not involve a split-sec-
ond decision by a police officer. Putting aside that the district 
court and the parties emphasized the relevance of Nieves, noth-
ing in that case cabins its holding to actions of officers in the line 
of duty. 
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in order to curtail his speech. Id. at 1949. At a public 
meeting before the council, Lozman started making 
remarks, and refused to leave the podium when 
asked. He was arrested for violating the city counsel’s 
rules of procedure. Id. at 1949–50. He alleged that the 
arrest was in retaliation for his speech but conceded 
that probable cause existed to arrest him. Lozman 
sued the City of Rivera Beach, asserting a claim un-
der Monell v. New York City Dep’t. of Soc. Servs., 436 
U.S. 658 (1978). Id. at 1950–51. The jury found for the 
City, and on appeal the Eleventh Circuit affirmed, 
holding that the existence of probable cause for the 
arrest necessarily defeated Lozman’s claims. Id. at 
1950. The Supreme Court reversed, holding that Loz-
man’s claim could proceed. 

Gonzalez’s argument is that Lozman is applicable 
here because, as in that case, her “claim is far afield 
from the typical retaliatory arrest claim” because she 
was not arrested by an officer making a “split-second” 
decision and because there is additional evidence of 
retaliatory intent, including certain statements in the 
affidavit. Id. at 1954. But the Supreme Court allowed 
Lozman’s claims to proceed not because of the unu-
sual facts of the case, but because he was asserting a 
Monell claim against the municipality itself, rather 
than individuals. It held that “[t]he fact that Lozman 
must prove the existence and enforcement of an offi-
cial policy motivated by retaliation separates Loz-
man’s claim from the typical retaliatory arrest claim.” 
Id. This was so because “[a]n official retaliatory policy 
is a particularly troubling and potent form of retalia-
tion, for a policy can be long term and pervasive, 



32a 

Appendix B 

unlike an ad hoc, on-the-spot decision by an individ-
ual officer.” Id. Moreover, “[a]n official policy can be 
difficult to dislodge.” Id. 

Lozman’s holding was clearly limited to Monell 
claims.7 Our sister circuits have recognized as much. 
See Novak v. City of Parma, 932 F.3d 421, 429–30 (6th 
Cir. 2019) (holding that “Lozman does not apply 
where, as here, the plaintiff sues individual officers”); 
DeMartini v. Town of Gulf Stream, 942 F.3d 1277, 
1294 (11th Cir. 2019) (noting that Lozman applies 
only to cases involving official policies). Gonzalez did 
bring a Monell claim against the City of Castle of 
Hills, but that claim is irrelevant to this appeal. 

Finally, in her Rule 28(j) materials, Gonzalez as-
serts that a recent case from this circuit, Villarreal v. 
City of Laredo, 17 F.4th 532 (5th Cir. 2021), holds that 
a claim under § 1983 may proceed on similar facts. In 
Villarreal, the plaintiff was a citizen-reporter who 
was arrested for violating a Texas statute that pro-
hibited citizens from soliciting governmental infor-
mation from public officials that had not yet been 
made public. We reasonably pointed out that “it 
should be obvious to any reasonable police officer that 
locking up a journalist for asking a question violates 
the First Amendment” and therefore qualified im-
munity did not bar the plaintiff’s suit. Id. at 541. The 
panel also recognized that its opinion called the con-
stitutionality of the Texas statute into question. Id. at 
546–47. 

 
7 The dissent acknowledges as much. See post at 30–31. 
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Villarreal was different in kind and did not ad-
dress the issue we face here. In Villarreal, the conduct 
the plaintiff was arrested for—asking questions of po-
lice officers—was plainly constitutional. Here, the 
conduct Gonzalez was arrested for—allegedly steal-
ing a government document—is not plainly constitu-
tional. The heart of our holding in Villarreal is that a 
citizen cannot be arrested under a statute that out-
laws plainly constitutional behavior, an issue not 
raised on these facts. Indeed, Villarreal did not ad-
dress—nor did it even cite—Nieves or Lozman, the 
cases both parties recognize govern this case. We 
therefore find that our opinion in Villarreal does not 
control here. 

In his dissent, Judge Oldham makes a forceful 
case for why the Constitution ought to provide a claim 
here, particularly given that Gonzalez’s arrest was al-
legedly in response to her exercise of her right to pe-
tition. Were we writing on a blank slate, we may well 
agree with our distinguished colleague. But we re-
main bound by what we consider the better readings 
of the relevant Supreme Court precedent. 

IV 

For the reasons stated herein, we REVERSE the 
district court’s order denying Appellants’ motion to 
dismiss, and REMAND with instructions that Gonza-
lez’s claims against Appellants be dismissed.
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ANDREW S. OLDHAM, Circuit Judge, dissenting: 

This case involves an alleged conspiracy of city of-
ficials to punish Sylvia Gonzalez—a 72-year-old  
councilwoman—for spearheading a nonbinding peti-
tion criticizing the city manager. The district court 
concluded that Sylvia’s claim survives qualified im-
munity at the motion-to-dismiss phase. My esteemed 
colleagues don’t reach the clearly-established-law 
question because they conclude that under the best 
reading of Supreme Court precedent, Sylvia failed to 
adequately state a claim. With the deepest respect 
and admiration for my learned and distinguished 
friends in the majority, I disagree. 

I. 

A. 

We are reviewing a motion-to-dismiss decision, so 
we must take the facts as Sylvia Gonzalez plausibly 
alleges them, drawing every reasonable inference in 
her favor. See Heinze v. Tesco Corp., 971 F.3d 475, 479 
(5th Cir. 2020). At this stage, here’s what we must ac-
cept as true: 

Castle Hills is a city in Texas with fewer than 
5,000 residents. It’s governed by a city council of one 
mayor and five aldermen (called “councilmembers”). 
The mayor and the councilmembers are elected posi-
tions. The council appoints a city manager for an in-
definite period to handle the City’s day-to-day deci-
sionmaking. The city manager nominates the chief of 
police and needs approval from the city council. 
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In Spring 2019, Sylvia Gonzalez was a retired 72-
year-old woman living in Castle Hills. Because she 
wanted to give back to her community, Sylvia ran for 
a seat on the council. She faced an incumbent. And 
she won. 

During her campaign, Sylvia repeatedly heard 
complaints about the city manager. After her success-
ful election, Sylvia sought to express her constituents’ 
discontent to the entire city council. So she spear-
headed a nonbinding citizens’ petition urging the re-
moval of the city manager Ryan Rapelye. The petition 
complained that for years, “various city managers 
[have] talked about [fixing] street[s]” but “[n]one have 
fixed a single” one. To “restor[e] effective manage-
ment,” the petition proposed that Rapelye be replaced 
with a former city manager who had followed through 
on promises. Hundreds of Castle Hills residents 
signed the petition. 

At Sylvia’s first council meeting, on May 21, 2019, 
a resident submitted the petition to the council, spe-
cifically to Mayor Edward Trevino. The meeting was 
contentious, to put it mildly. In fact, the petition 
spurred so much discussion that it led to another 
council meeting the next day. Given the apparent sig-
nificance of the petition, one would think that be-
tween this meeting and the one the following day, 
Trevino would’ve made copies of the document. But he 
did not. 

The next day did not go more smoothly. The city 
council continued to debate Rapelye’s job perfor-
mance. When the meeting finally finished, Sylvia got 
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ready to leave, picked up her documents, and placed 
them in her binder. Before she left, a constituent 
asked Sylvia some questions. During their conversa-
tion, a police officer in charge of safety at the meeting 
(Captain Steve Zuniga) interrupted and told Sylvia 
that Trevino wanted to talk to her. 

Sylvia went to Trevino who was still at his seat 
next to Sylvia’s. Trevino asked Sylvia, “Where’s the 
petition?” Sylvia responded, “Don’t you have it? It was 
turned in to you yesterday.” Trevino said that he 
didn’t and then asked Sylvia to check her materials 
for it. And to Sylvia’s surprise, the petition was in her 
binder. So she handed Trevino the petition, who said 
that she “probably picked it up by mistake.” After all, 
they sat right next to each other at the meeting. You 
might think that was the end of the matter. 

But you’d be wrong. Soon after, Trevino hatched a 
plan with other city officials to retaliate against Syl-
via for spearheading the petition. Before describing 
the plan, I’ll introduce you to the schemers: Mayor 
Trevino, Police Chief John Siemens, and “Special De-
tective” Alex Wright.1 Trevino appointed Rapelye as 
city manager, Rapelye appointed Siemens as police 
chief, and Siemens commissioned his trusted friend 
Wright as a “special detective.” Together, I call them 
“the Conspirators.” 

 
1 The scheme is even more elaborate than that set out here. 

But because all the claims aren’t before us on appeal, I omit 
these other troubling allegations. 
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The Conspirators’ plan had three parts: (1) inves-
tigate Sylvia for purporting to intentionally conceal 
the very petition she championed; (2) drum up 
charges against Sylvia and arrest her in a way that 
makes sure she spends the night in jail; and (3) re-
move her from office. Part three follows from part two 
because “if a councilmember is convicted of a felony or 
a misdemeanor involving official misconduct, it would 
operate as an immediate removal from office.” 

Start with the investigation. On May 24, Sie-
mens—who again was appointed by City Manager 
Rapelye—told another police officer (Sergeant Paul 
Turner) that Trevino would be contacting him “in ref-
erence to the filing of a criminal complaint” against 
Sylvia. What crime did she conceivably commit? The 
Conspirators’ theory was that Sylvia “concealed” a 
government document by picking up her own petition 
at the end of the second council meeting and then im-
mediately handing it back to Trevino. Trevino asked 
Sergeant Turner to investigate this purported 
“crime.” Turner started his investigation and (unsur-
prisingly) got nowhere. 

But this did not stop Trevino and Siemens. On 
June 18, 2019, Siemens deputized Wright to take over 
Turner’s investigation. Wright is a trusted friend of 
Siemens and a private attorney; he’s not a peace of-
ficer. Wright then spent another month investigating 
Sylvia. During the investigation, Wright interviewed 
Trevino, Captain Zuniga, and Rapelye. 

On June 24, 2019, “Special Detective” Wright in-
terviewed Trevino. According to Wright, Trevino 
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stressed that Sylvia was “openly antagonistic to the 
city manager” and “desperately [wanted] to get him 
fired.” Wright also interviewed Captain Zuniga. Ac-
cording to Wright, Zuniga provided facts that Wright 
“found to be consistent with Mayor Trevino’s.” One 
fact was that Sylvia stated that she thought the peti-
tion in her possession were “extras” because they were 
“copies.” But recall that even though Trevino now 
thought that the petition was significant, he never 
had copies made between the first and second meet-
ing. 

“Special Detective” Wright then filed an arrest af-
fidavit asserting that Sylvia committed a Class A mis-
demeanor for “intentionally destroy[ing], con-
ceal[ing], remov[ing], or otherwise impair[ing] the 
verity, legibility, or availability of a governmental rec-
ord.” TEX. PENAL CODE § 37.10(a)(3). Never mind that 
Sylvia would have no reason to conceal her own peti-
tion. Never mind that Sylvia did not in fact conceal 
her own petition. And never mind that Sergeant 
Turner, an actual officer, investigated this purported 
“crime” for over a month and (obviously) got nowhere. 

The plan then entered its next phase: the arrest. 
“Special Detective” Wright lived up to his title. He did 
three special things to ensure that Sylvia would be ar-
rested and jailed rather than simply asked to appear 
before a judge. 

First, Wright chose to get a warrant rather than a 
summons. Summonses are normally reserved for peo-
ple suspected of nonviolent crimes, and they don’t re-
quire a trip to jail. Obviously, Sylvia’s purported 
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“crime” was nonviolent. Still, Wright chose to get a 
bench warrant for her arrest. 

Second, Wright didn’t get a warrant through the 
district attorney (“DA”)—even though that’s the nor-
mal procedure. Instead, Wright circumvented the DA. 
By using a procedure typically reserved for violent fel-
onies or emergency situations, Wright walked the 
warrant directly to a magistrate judge. This side-step 
ensured that the DA couldn’t stop the retaliatory ar-
rest. And there can be little doubt that the DA 
would’ve stopped it if given the chance: After all, 
when the DA’s office finally learned of the charges and 
reviewed them, it immediately dismissed them. 

Third, by using the procedure that skirted the DA, 
Wright ensured that Sylvia couldn’t avoid jail through 
the satellite-booking function. This function allows in-
dividuals with outstanding warrants for nonviolent 
offenses to be booked, processed, and released without 
being jailed. But because Sylvia’s warrant wasn’t ob-
tained through the traditional channels, it wasn’t dis-
coverable through the satellite office’s computer sys-
tem. This left Sylvia with only one option: jail. 

So off to jail she went. When Sylvia learned of the 
arrest warrant, she decided to turn herself in. On July 
18, 2019, Sylvia—a 72-year-old councilwoman—was 
booked. She spent a day in jail—handcuffed, on a cold 
metal bench, wearing an orange jail shirt, and avoid-
ing using the restroom, which had no doors and no 
toilet-paper holders. The entire time she wasn’t al-
lowed to stand up and stretch her legs. 



40a 

Appendix B 

The next part of the plan was removing her from 
office. This time the Conspirators only somewhat suc-
ceeded. It’s true that the DA dismissed the charges, 
so Sylvia wasn’t “convicted” of the misdemeanor, and 
in turn, she wasn’t “immediately remov[ed] from of-
fice.” But it’s also true that Sylvia is “so traumatized 
by the experience that she will never again help or-
ganize a petition or participate in any other public ex-
pression of her political speech [and] will . . . never 
again run for any political office.” Although the plan 
didn’t go as intended, the Conspirators ended up suc-
ceeding in a more underhanded and permanent way. 

B. 

Sylvia sued the Conspirators in their individual 
capacities and the City of Castle Hills under  
42 U.S.C. § 1983 for violating her First Amendment 
right as incorporated by the Fourteenth Amendment. 
The Conspirators moved to dismiss Sylvia’s claim 
based on qualified immunity, while the City moved to 
dismiss her claim because she didn’t sufficiently al-
lege a claim under Monell v. New York City Depart-
ment of Social Services, 436 U.S. 658 (1978). 

The district court denied both motions to dismiss. 
Only the denial of the Conspirators’ motion is rele-
vant here on interlocutory appeal. The court first re-
jected the Conspirators’ principal argument that Syl-
via had to prove the absence of probable cause to 
plead a First Amendment retaliatory-arrest claim. 
The court did so because under clearly established 
law, Sylvia alleged “the existence of objective evidence 
that she was arrested when otherwise similarly 
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situated individuals not engaged in the same sort of 
protected speech had not been.” Because the Con-
spirators didn’t meaningfully contest whether Sylvia 
plausibly alleged a violation of her First Amendment 
rights, the court concluded that Sylvia’s claim passed 
motion-to-dismiss muster. 

The Conspirators timely appealed. We have juris-
diction under 28 U.S.C. § 1291. See Mitchell v. For-
syth, 472 U.S. 511, 530 (1985). Review is de novo. Mor-
row v. Meachum, 917 F.3d 870, 874 (5th Cir. 2019). 

II. 

Qualified immunity includes two inquiries. The 
first question is whether the officials violated a con-
stitutional right. Jackson v. Gautreaux, 3 F.4th 182, 
186 (5th Cir. 2021). I say yes. The second question is 
whether the right at issue was clearly established at 
the time of the alleged misconduct. Ibid. On this ques-
tion, I am not so sure. But my esteemed colleagues in 
the majority do not address it, so I do not offer a rea-
son to disturb the district court’s judgment. 

A. 

To allege a First Amendment retaliation claim, 
Sylvia must show that: (1) she engaged in a constitu-
tionally protected activity, (2) the officials took a ma-
terial adverse action that caused her to suffer an in-
jury, and (3) there’s a causal connection between the 
officials’ retaliatory animus and her subsequent in-
jury. Nieves v. Bartlett, 139 S. Ct. 1715, 1722 (2019); 
see also Keenan v. Tejeda, 290 F.3d 252, 258 (5th Cir. 
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2002); Novak v. City of Parma, 932 F.3d 421, 427 (6th 
Cir. 2019) (Thapar, J.). I address each in turn. I then 
(4) address (a) the Conspirators’ remaining counter-
arguments and (b) my esteemed colleagues’ approach. 

1. 

Sylvia engaged in activity that was protected by 
the First Amendment as incorporated by the Four-
teenth Amendment. The First Amendment provides 
that “Congress shall make no law . . . abridging the 
freedom of speech . . . or the right of the people . . . to 
petition the Government for a redress of grievances.” 
U.S. CONST. amend. I; see also United Mine Workers 
of Am., Dist. 12 v. Ill. State Bar Ass’n, 389 U.S. 217, 
222 n.4 (1967) (incorporating the relevant clauses). As 
the Conspirators’ counsel rightly admitted at oral ar-
gument, Sylvia alleged a violation of her right to peti-
tion the government. 

The right to petition has a rich historical pedigree 
that “long antedate[s] the Constitution.” McDonald v. 
Smith, 472 U.S. 479, 482 (1985); see also Borough of 
Duryea v. Guarnieri, 564 U.S. 379, 395 (2011) (The 
right “is of ancient significance in the English law and 
the Anglo–American legal tradition.”). In fact, its 
roots “run[] from [the] Magna Carta in 1215 through 
royal commitments in the Petition of Right of 1628 
and the Bill of Right of 1689 to seventeenth- and 
eighteenth-century parliamentary guarantees of a 
general right to petition.” Gary Lawson & Guy Seid-
man, Downsizing the Right to Petition, 93 NW. U. L. 
REV. 739, 741 (1999) (quotation omitted). 
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In 1215, the Magna Carta “confirmed the right of 
barons to petition the King.” Borough of Duryea, 564 
U.S. at 395. In 1689, the English Declaration of 
Rights provided that “[i]t is the Right of the Subjects 
to petition the King, and all Commitments and Pros-
ecutions for such Petitioning are Illegal.” 1 Wm. & 
Mary, ch. 2, 6 Statutes of the Realm 143; see also 
McDonald, 472 U.S. at 482; Borough of Duryea, 564 
U.S. at 395–96; 1 WILLIAM BLACKSTONE, COMMEN-
TARIES *139 (“[A]ll commitments and prosecutions for 
such petitioning [were] illegal.”). 

Early American Colonies also provided a right to 
petition. See Borough of Duryea, 564 U.S. at 394; Law-
son & Seidman, supra, at 748–50; Stephen A. Hig-
ginson, A Short History of the Right to Petition Gov-
ernment for the Redress of Grievances, 96 YALE L.J. 
142, 144–55 (1986). For example, the Stamp Act Con-
gress of 1765 “included a right to petition the King 
and Parliament in its Declaration of Rights and 
Grievances.” McDonald, 472 U.S. at 482. And the 
“first Continental Congress in 1774 recognized the 
right to petition.” Lawson & Seidman, supra, at 750. 
The “Declarations of Rights enacted by many state 
conventions” also had “a right to petition for redress 
of grievances.” McDonald, 472 U.S. at 482–83. And 
during the ratification debates, Anti-Federalists “cir-
culated petitions urging delegates not to adopt the 
Constitution absent modification by a bill of rights.” 
Borough of Duryea, 564 U.S. at 396.2 The significance 

 
2 The Anti-Federalists pointed, in particular, to the Consti-

tution’s omission of a right to petition. See, e.g., Centinel No. 2, 
in 2 THE COMPLETE ANTI-FEDERALIST 143, 153 (Herbert J. 
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of petitioning continued after the ratification of the 
Constitution and the First Amendment. See id. at 
396–97. 

Given this tradition, it’s unsurprising that the Su-
preme Court has put the right on a pedestal. The 
Court has stressed that the right to petition is “one of 
the most precious of the liberties safeguarded by the 
Bill of Rights.” BE & K Constr. Co. v. NLRB, 536 U.S. 
516, 524 (2002) (quotation omitted). It has also said 
that the right is “an essential safeguard of freedom.” 
Borough of Duryea, 564 U.S. at 395. It even went so 
far to say that “[t]he very idea of a government, re-
publican in form, implies a right . . . to petition for a 
redress of grievances.” United States v. Cruikshank, 
92 U.S. 542, 552 (1875).3 And for good reason: “The 

 
Storing ed., 1981) (arguing that “petitioning or remonstrating to 
the federal legislature ought not to be prevented”); Centinel No. 
4, in 2 THE COMPLETE ANTI-FEDERALIST, supra, at 164 (“Of what 
avail will be a prosperous state of commerce, when the produce 
of it will be at the absolute disposal of an arbitrary and un-
checked government, who may levy at pleasure the most oppres-
sive taxes; who may destroy every principle of freedom; who may 
even destroy the privilege of complaining.”); Philadelphiensis 
No. 5, in 3 THE COMPLETE ANTI-FEDERALIST, supra, at 116–18; 
Essay by Samuel, in 4 THE COMPLETE ANTI-FEDERALIST, supra, 
at 193 (objecting that there is no “provision made for the people 
or States, to petition or remonstrate”). In 1788, the American 
people ratified the Constitution without an express protection 
for the right to petition; but soon thereafter, they “recognized the 
power of the Anti-Federalists’ criticisms and ratified the [First] 
Amendment in 1791.” United States v. ERR, LLC, 35 F.4th 405, 
410 (5th Cir. 2022). 

3 See also Lawson & Seidman, supra, at 742 (“The constitu-
tional guarantee of the right to petition is a guarantee against 
legislative interference with a preexisting, predefined right 
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right to petition is in some sense the source of other 
fundamental rights, for petitions have provided a vi-
tal means for citizens to request recognition of new 
rights and to assert existing rights against the sover-
eign.” Borough of Duryea, 564 U.S. at 397.4 

It’s thus safe to say that Sylvia engaged in speech 
and conduct “high in the hierarchy of First Amend-
ment values.” Lozman v. City of Riviera Beach, 138 S. 
Ct. 1945, 1955 (2018). 

2. 

The Conspirators took a material adverse action 
against Sylvia. Retaliation by government officials for 
exercising one’s right to petition violates the First 
Amendment. See Nieves, 139 S. Ct. at 1722 (“As a gen-
eral matter the First Amendment prohibits govern-
ment officials from subjecting an individual to 

 
whose contours are assumed rather than created by the Consti-
tution.”); Borough of Duryea, 564 U.S. at 403 (Scalia, J., concur-
ring in the judgment in part and dissenting in part) (“The refer-
ence to ‘the right of the people’ indicates that the Petition Clause 
was intended to codify a pre-existing individual right, which 
means that we must look to historical practice to determine its 
scope.”). 

4 The right to petition also gave rise to the celebrated Case 
of the Seven Bishops, 12 How. St. Tr. 183 (K.B. 1688), where the 
jury famously acquitted bishops charged with libel for petition-
ing the government. This led to the Constitution’s Take Care 
Clause, which “ruled out the [executive’s] suspending and dis-
pensing powers.” See Texas v. Biden, 20 F.4th 928, 979–82 (5th 
Cir. 2021); see also MICHAEL W. MCCONNELL, THE PRESIDENT 
WHO WOULD NOT BE KING: EXECUTIVE POWER UNDER THE CON-
STITUTION 115–19 (2020). 
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retaliatory actions for engaging in protected speech.” 
(quotation omitted)); Hous. Cmty. Coll. Sys. v. Wilson, 
142 S. Ct. 1253, 1259 (2022) (“[A]s a general matter, 
the First Amendment prohibits government officials 
from subjecting individuals to retaliatory actions af-
ter the fact for having engaged in protected speech.” 
(quotation omitted)). 

The adverse action here is “easy to identify”: It’s 
the “arrest.” Id. at 1260. And that action is a “mate-
rial” violation of Sylvia’s rights. Id. at 1261. Although 
“we expect elected representatives to shoulder a de-
gree of criticism about their public service from their 
constituents and their peers,” we don’t expect them to 
shoulder an arrest and a night in jail for a misde-
meanor as retaliation for exercising their First 
Amendment right to petition. Ibid. 

3. 

Next, the causal connection. Sylvia alleged numer-
ous facts to show that the Conspirators arrested her 
for petitioning the government. This is not a case 
where we must guess about the Conspirators’ mo-
tives. It’s also not a case where we must rely on the 
allegations in the complaint standing alone. Rather, 
the face of the arrest affidavit itself lists Sylvia’s view-
points as relevant facts warranting her arrest. For ex-
ample: 

• “From her very first [council] meeting in May 
of 2019, [Sylvia] has been openly antagonistic 
to the city manager, Ryan Rapelye, wanting 
desperately to get him fired.” 
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• “Part of her plan to oust Mr. Rapelye involved 
collecting signatures on several petitions to 
that effect.” 

• “Gonzalez had personally gone to [a resident’s] 
house on May 13, 2019, to get her signature on 
one of the petitions under false pretenses, by 
misleading her, and by telling her several fab-
rications regarding Ryan Rapelye . . . .” 

There is no way to understand “Special Detective” 
Wright’s affidavit except that he—as a private attor-
ney deputized to act by his fellow Conspirators— 
wanted to arrest Sylvia because of her petition. 

If there were any doubt on that score, “Special De-
tective” Wright eliminated it with the highly irregular 
procedure he used to get Sylvia’s warrant. See supra, 
at 15–16. This procedure ensured that the DA 
couldn’t stop the arrest and that Sylvia spent the 
night in jail for a nonviolent misdemeanor rather 
than merely appearing before a judge at a particular 
date and time. And the moment the actual prosecu-
tors found out about the shenanigans, they dismissed 
the case. 

Thus, the Conspirators’ animus plainly caused 
Sylvia’s arrest. Sylvia has met her burden of showing 
the requisite causal connection. 
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4. 

Now, the Conspirators’ and my esteemed col-
leagues’ objections. I first (a) reject the Conspirators’ 
contention that Sylvia relies on vicarious liability to 
establish her claim. I then (b) address my colleagues’ 
conclusion that the presence of probable cause dooms 
Sylvia’s claim. 

a. 

The Conspirators complain that the district court 
didn’t consider each of them separately. That is, they 
think the court allowed Sylvia to rely on vicarious li-
ability to establish her claim. They’re wrong. 

It’s true that Sylvia “must plead that each Govern-
ment-official defendant, through the official’s own in-
dividual actions, has violated the Constitution.” Ash-
croft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 676 (2009). But she did 
just that: She sufficiently connected each defendant 
to her claim through her allegations of a conspiracy. 

A “conspiracy allegation offers ‘the conceptual 
spring’ for holding [one] defendant liable for the ac-
tions of another defendant.” Rudd v. City of Norton 
Shores, 977 F.3d 503, 513 (6th Cir. 2020) (quoting 
Farrar v. Cain, 756 F.2d 1148, 1151 (5th Cir. 1985)). 
“A plaintiff must prove that a single plan existed, that 
each alleged coconspirator shared in the general con-
spiratorial objective, and that an overt act was com-
mitted in furtherance of the conspiracy.” Id. at 517 
(quotation omitted). “An express agreement need not 
exist, and each conspirator need not have known all 
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of the details of the illegal plan or all of the partici-
pants involved.” Ibid. (quotation omitted). 

Sylvia sufficiently alleged a conspiracy between 
Trevino, Siemens, and Wright. First, Sylvia ade-
quately alleged that there was one plan: retaliate 
against Sylvia for exercising her right to petition with 
the goal of removing her from the city council. 

Second, Sylvia adequately alleged that each cocon-
spirator shared in the general conspiratorial objec-
tive. Mayor Trevino nominated Rapelye to be city 
manager. Siemens was appointed to his position as 
the chief of police by Rapelye. Siemens hired his 
trusted friend Wright as a “special detective” to take 
over the investigation from Sergeant Turner, even 
though Siemens’s own sergeant had no success in his 
investigation. Trevino’s interview with Wright made 
clear that it was Sylvia’s petition efforts that moti-
vated his filing of the complaint. And Wright’s inclu-
sion of these seemingly irrelevant facts in the warrant 
affidavit underscores that Wright shared in the con-
spiratorial objective to retaliate against Sylvia for 
spearheading the petition. 

Last, Sylvia adequately alleged that one of the 
Conspirators took an overt act in furtherance of the 
general conspiratorial objective. Obviously, at least 
Wright took an affirmative act when he secured an 
arrest warrant and ensured that Sylvia spent the 
night in jail. But Trevino and Siemens did too.  
Trevino took an overt act because he filed the criminal 
complaint that started it all and participated in his 
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coconspirator’s investigation by giving an interview. 
And Siemens deputized Wright in the first place. 

In short, Sylvia sufficiently connected each indi-
vidual defendant to this claim through her conspiracy 
allegations. 

b. 

Next, my esteemed colleagues don’t dispute that 
Sylvia engaged in protective activity, that the Con-
spirators took a material adverse action, or that  
retaliatory animus caused the arrest. Instead, they 
conclude that because the parties agree that there 
was probable cause for the arrest, Sylvia’s claim fails 
under the Supreme Court’s decision in Nieves. 

With deepest respect, I am obligated to disagree. I 
first (i) explain Nieves. I then (ii) explain the more  
relevant precedent, Lozman. I last (iii) explain that 
under Nieves or Lozman or both, Sylvia has met her 
burden. 

i. 

It’s well-established that “the language of an opin-
ion is not always to be parsed as though we were deal-
ing with the language of a statute.” Brown v. Daven-
port, 142 S. Ct. 1510, 1528 (2022) (quotation omitted); 
see also Borden v. United States, 141 S. Ct. 1817, 1833 
n.9 (2021). Instead, we must read precedent, includ-
ing Nieves, “fairly and holistically.” Mitchell Law 
Firm, LP v. Bessie Jeanne Worthy Revocable Tr., 8 
F.4th 417, 421 (5th Cir. 2021); see also United States 
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v. Vargas-Soto, 35 F.4th 979, 991 (5th Cir. 2022) (ex-
plaining that “it’s never a fair reading of precedent to 
take . . . sentences out of context”). 

In Nieves, the Supreme Court announced a two-
part rule. The first part is a general rule: “The pres-
ence of probable cause should generally defeat a First 
Amendment retaliatory arrest claim.” 139 S. Ct. at 
1726 (emphasis added). The second part is a “narrow 
qualification”: Probable cause will not defeat a retali-
atory-arrest claim in “circumstances where officers 
have probable cause to make arrests, but typically  
exercise their discretion not to do so.” Id. at 1727. To 
avail herself of the second part of this rule, the plain-
tiff can “present[] objective evidence that [s]he was  
arrested when otherwise similarly situated individu-
als not engaged in the same sort of protected speech 
had not been.” Ibid. This is an “objective inquiry.” 
Ibid. 

My learned colleagues hold that the “most reason-
able reading of this language is that some compara-
tive evidence is required to invoke” the second part of 
Nieves’s rule. Ante, at 8. That is, my colleagues hold 
that probable cause will defeat a retaliatory-arrest 
claim (Nieves part one) unless the retaliatory-arrest 
plaintiff can produce comparative evidence showing 
that officers generally do not arrest people for the un-
derlying crime (Nieves part two). 

In my view, and again with deepest respect, such 
comparative evidence is not required. Nieves simply 
requires objective evidence. And evidence is “[s]ome-
thing (including testimony, documents, and tangible 
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objects) that tends to prove or disprove the existence 
of an alleged fact.” Evidence, BLACK’S LAW DICTION-
ARY (11th ed. 2019). So the retaliatory-arrest plaintiff 
need only provide (objective) evidence that supports 
the required proposition by tending to connect the of-
ficers’ animus to the plaintiff’s arrest. Such evidence 
could be comparative. But as far as I can tell, nothing 
in Nieves requires it to be so. 

Context confirms that straightforward reading. 
The second part of the Nieves rule identifies circum-
stances “where officers have probable cause to make 
arrests, but typically exercise their discretion not to 
do so.” 139 S. Ct. at 1727. In those circumstances, 
“probable cause does little to prove or disprove the 
causal connection between animus and injury.” Ibid. 
The Nieves majority gave a prototypical example of a 
circumstance that should meet the second part: jay-
walking. As the Court explained: 

For example, at many intersections, jay-
walking is endemic but rarely results in 
arrest. If an individual who has been vo-
cally complaining about police conduct is 
arrested for jaywalking at such an inter-
section, it would seem insufficiently pro-
tective of First Amendment rights to dis-
miss the individual’s retaliatory arrest 
claim on the ground that there was un-
doubted probable cause for the arrest. In 
such a case, . . . probable cause does little 
to prove or disprove the causal connec-
tion between animus and injury . . . . 
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Ibid. It’s not clear that there will always (or ever) be 
available comparative evidence of jaywalkers that 
weren’t arrested. Rather, the retaliatory-arrest- jay-
walking plaintiff always (or almost always) must ap-
peal to the commonsense proposition that jaywalking 
happens all the time, and jaywalking arrests happen 
virtually never (or never). Yet under today’s opinion, 
I am afraid the very jaywalking plaintiff invoked by 
the Supreme Court to illustrate part two of the Nieves 
rule would lose for lack of nonexistent comparative 
evidence. 

I’m also not sure what to make of the separate 
writings in Nieves. Contra ante, at 8–9. The Nieves 
Court gave us five different opinions to explain its 
holding. It’s true that Justice Sotomayor (writing only 
for herself) said the Nieves majority “arbitrarily fet-
ishizes one specific type of motive evidence—treat-
ment of comparators—at the expense of other modes 
of proof.” 139 S. Ct. at 1739 (dissenting op.). But Jus-
tice Gorsuch (also writing only for himself) concurred 
by emphasizing that “I do not understand the major-
ity as going that far.” Id. at 1734 (concurring op.). And 
the Nieves majority said nary a word about either as-
sertion. Nor did any of this actually matter in Nieves 
because the case did not implicate comparative evi-
dence in any event. So I think the absolute most that 
can be said about the Court’s holding is that (1) the 
presence of probable cause is not a bar to retaliatory- 
arrest claims, so long as (2) the plaintiff produces ob-
jective evidence of retaliatory animus. 
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But the more fundamental problem is that it’s not 
even clear to me Nieves is the most relevant precedent 
here. Recall that Nieves creates a two- part rule: a 
general rule that probable cause defeats retaliatory-
arrest claims (part one), and an exception for circum-
stances where officers generally exercise discretion 
not to arrest (part two). The Nieves Court framed the 
entirety of that two-part rule to accommodate the ne-
cessities of split-second decisions to arrest. See id. at 
1724 (pointing to the need for “split-second judg-
ments” (quotation omitted)); see also id. at 1725 (“Po-
lice officers conduct approximately 29,000 arrests 
every day—a dangerous task that requires making 
quick decisions in circumstances that are tense, un-
certain, and rapidly evolving.” (quotation omitted)). 
And Nieves itself involved precisely such a split-sec-
ond warrantless arrest. See id. at 1720–21 (describing 
the incident, which involved a drunk and combative 
partygoer who did not immediately comply with police 
orders and almost got tased). It’s unclear to me why 
we should apply a rule designed for split-second war-
rantless arrests to a deliberative, premediated, 
weeks-long conspiracy.5  

 
5 It’s true that Nieves expressly framed only the first part of 

its rule—that probable cause generally defeats retaliatory-arrest 
claims—to accommodate split-second decisions. But it’s also ir-
relevant. That’s because if the general rule does not apply to de-
liberative, intentional, and premediated conspiracies to punish 
people for protected First Amendment activity, then surely the 
exception to that general rule (Nieves part two) also does not ap-
ply to such deliberative, intentional, and premeditated conspir-
acies. 
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In short, Nieves designed a rule to reflect “the fact 
that protected speech [or conduct] is often a legitimate 
consideration when deciding whether to make an ar-
rest” and the fact that “it is particularly difficult to 
determine whether the adverse government action 
was caused by the officer’s malice or the plaintiff’s po-
tentially criminal conduct.” Id. at 1724. In this case, 
it’s plainly impossible that Sylvia’s speech and peti-
tioning activity was a “legitimate consideration” in 
the Conspirators’ efforts to jail her. And there’s zero 
difficulty or complexity in figuring out whether it was 
animus or her purportedly criminal conduct that 
caused her arrest. It was plainly the former; if it were 
even conceivably the latter, the Conspirators would 
not have needed a faux detective, would not have 
needed to circumvent the DA’s office, and would not 
have had their charges dismissed the moment a real 
law-enforcement official found out about them. It’s 
therefore unclear to me what purchase Nieves has 
here. 

ii. 

Rather, the more relevant rule appears to come 
from Lozman. That case involved materially identical 
facts to ours. There, Fane Lozman was “an outspoken 
critic” of the City of Riviera Beach, who “often spoke 
during the public-comment period at city council 
meetings,” “criticized” public officials, and even sued 
the City. 138 S. Ct. at 1949. During “a closed-door ses-
sion,” the City’s council “formed an official plan to in-
timidate him” and executed the plan at the next pub-
lic meeting. During the public-comment period, 
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Lozman “stepped up to the podium to give remarks,” 
but early into his remarks, a councilmember “inter-
rupted Lozman” and “direct[ed] him to stop” talking. 
Ibid. Lozman, however, continued, so the coun-
cilmember “called for the assistance of the police of-
ficer in attendance.” Ibid. After Lozman refused to 
leave the podium, the councilmember ordered the of-
ficer to arrest him. Id. at 1949–50. And the officer did. 
Id. at 1950. 

Lozman sued the City under § 1983 for violating 
his First Amendment rights. Although Lozman “con-
cede[d] that there was probable cause for the arrest,” 
the Supreme Court concluded that the existence of 
probable cause itself didn’t doom his claim. Id. at 
1951. In reaching that conclusion, the Court high-
lighted four characteristics. First, the Court noted 
that Lozman didn’t “sue the officer who made the ar-
rest.” Id. at 1954. Second, the Court highlighted that 
Lozman alleged “more governmental action than 
simply an arrest” because there was “a premeditated 
plan to intimate him.” Ibid. This mattered because an 
“official retaliatory policy is a particularly troubling 
and potent form of retaliation, for a policy can be long 
term and pervasive, unlike an ad hoc, on-the-spot de-
cision by an individual officer.” Ibid. Third, the Court 
emphasized that the “retaliation [was] for prior, pro-
tected speech bearing little relation to the criminal of-
fense for which the arrest is made.” Ibid. Finally, the 
Court stressed that the retaliation was for Lozman 
exercising his right to petition, which is “high in the 
hierarchy of First Amendment values.” Id. at 1954–
55. Because of these four characteristics, the Court 
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determined that “Lozman’s claim [wa]s far afield from 
the typical retaliatory arrest claim” and “the [causa-
tion] difficulties that might arise [in] the mine run of 
arrests made by police officers” weren’t present.  
Id. at 1954. 

Each of those characteristics is present (at least in 
part) here. First, Sylvia didn’t sue an officer who 
made the arrest. To be sure, Wright obtained the ar-
rest warrant. But he didn’t find Sylvia and arrest her; 
that is, he didn’t actually execute the warrant. Ra-
ther, another official executed the warrant when Syl-
via turned herself in. And Sylvia didn’t sue that offi-
cial. Second, the Conspirators “formed a premeditated 
plan” to retaliate against Sylvia for engaging in pro-
tected activity. Ibid. Third, the protected activity 
wasn’t a legitimate consideration for the arrest.  
Indeed, the arrest bore “little [relevant] relation to the 
criminal offense for which the arrest is made.” Ibid.; 
cf. Nieves, 139 S. Ct. at 1723–24 (“The causal inquiry 
is complex because protected speech is often a wholly 
legitimate consideration for officers when deciding 
whether to make an arrest.” (emphasis added) (quo-
tation omitted)). Sylvia’s spearheading of the petition 
was irrelevant to the elements of the criminal offense 
and the reasons provided in the affidavit to get the 
arrest warrant. In fact, her involvement cut directly 
against it. After all, why would Sylvia intentionally 
conceal the very petition she championed? Last, the 
right violated here is also the right to petition. See 
Lozman, 138 S. Ct. at 1954–55. 
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In the end, the only relevant difference between 
Lozman and this case is that Sylvia’s claim is against 
the Conspirators, while Lozman brought a Monell 
claim against the City itself. My esteemed colleagues 
find this difference dispositive. See ante, at 10 (“Loz-
man’s holding was clearly limited to Monell claims.”).6 
It’s true that Lozman involves a Monell claim and 
that Nieves wrote that the Lozman Court “limited [its] 
holding to arrests that result from official policies of 
retaliation.” 139 S. Ct. at 1722. But as the Nieves 
Court acknowledged, the Monell claim mattered be-
cause it showed that Lozman involved “facts [that] 
were far afield from the typical retaliatory arrest 
claim,” while Nieves involved a “more representative 
case.” Ibid. (quotation omitted). So even though Loz-
man’s holding is limited, the opinion’s teachings are 
still instructive—especially when understanding 
Nieves. 

iii. 

Under Nieves or Lozman or both, Sylvia has met 
her burden. She alleges that “a review of the misde-
meanor and felony data from Bexar County over the 
past decade makes it clear that the misdemeanor 
tampering statute has never been used in Bexar 
County to criminally charge someone for trying to 

 
6 They also cite two of our sister circuits. But neither Novak 

v. City of Parma, 932 F.3d 421 (6th Cir. 2019), nor DeMartini v. 
Town of Gulf Stream, 942 F.3d 1277 (11th Cir. 2019), involved a 
conspiracy. So they had no occasion to consider whether Lozman 
is instructive for claims against individual defendants based on 
conspiracy. 
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steal a nonbinding or expressive document.” More 
specifically, she alleges that most indictments under 
the statute involved fake government IDs, such as 
driver’s licenses, social security numbers, and green 
cards. As my esteemed colleagues recognize, “the evi-
dence [Sylvia] offers is that virtually everyone prose-
cuted under [the Texas statute] was prosecuted for 
conduct different from hers.” Ante, at 8. In these cir-
cumstances, that is enough to satisfy the second part 
of the Nieves rule and to hold that probable cause does 
nothing to defeat Sylvia’s retaliatory-arrest claim. 

First, Sylvia’s evidence is obviously objective. She 
did a comprehensive “review of misdemeanor and fel-
ony data from Bexar County over the past decade.” 
And she doesn’t rely on “the statements and motiva-
tions of the particular [officials].” Nieves, 139 S. Ct. at 
1727. 

Second, Sylvia’s evidence supports the proposition 
that Nieves requires: She “was arrested when other-
wise similarly situated individuals not engaged in the 
same sort of protected speech [or conduct] had not 
been.” Ibid. Evidence that an arrest has never hap-
pened before (i.e., a negative assertion) can support 
the proposition that there are instances where simi-
larly situated individuals not engaged in the same 
protected activity hadn’t been arrested (i.e., a positive 
inference). See Negative Evidence, BLACK’S LAW DIC-
TIONARY (11th ed. 2019) (“Evidence suggesting that 
an alleged fact does not exist, such as a witness’s tes-
tifying that he or she did not see an event occur. . . .”). 
Context determines whether a negative assertion 
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amounts to positive evidence. See ibid. (explaining 
that “a negative assertion will sometimes be consid-
ered positive evidence”).7  

Here, common sense dictates that Sylvia’s nega-
tive assertion amounts to direct evidence that simi-
larly situated individuals not engaged in the same 
sort of protected activity had not been arrested. See 
Lund v. City of Rockford, 956 F.3d 938, 945 (7th Cir. 
2020) (“We must consider each set of facts as it comes 
to us, and in assessing whether the facts supply objec-
tive proof of retaliatory treatment, . . . common sense 
must prevail.”). After all, government employees rou-
tinely—with intent and without it—take stacks of pa-
pers before, during, and after meetings. Under the 
Conspirators’ interpretation of Texas Penal Code  
§ 37.10(a)(3), there should be dozens if not hundreds 
of arrests of officeholders and staffers during every 
single legislative biennium—to say nothing of the 
hundreds if not thousands of arrests during the more-
frequent local-government meetings across the State. 

 
7 It’s of course true that comparative evidence can be better 

evidence than the negative assertions Sylvia provides because it 
more directly supports the point. See Negative Evidence, BLACK’S 
LAW DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2019) (“Negative evidence is generally 
regarded as weaker than positive evidence because a positive as-
sertion that a witness saw an event is a stronger statement than 
an assertion that a witness did not see it.”). But this doesn’t 
mean that Sylvia’s evidence doesn’t support the required propo-
sition that other similarly situated individuals not engaged in 
the same sort of protected activity hadn’t been arrested. Simply 
put, just because Sylvia’s evidence requires an inference doesn’t 
mean it isn’t evidence sufficient to meet Nieves. Our system ac-
cepts circumstantial evidence all the time. 
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On the record before us, however, there has been only 
one: Sylvia’s. 

In short, Sylvia properly alleged that the Con-
spirators jailed her for petitioning the government. 
Nieves is no barrier to her retaliatory-arrest claim. 
She has therefore pleaded a constitutional violation 
and satisfied the first prong of the qualified-immunity 
inquiry. 

B. 

The second prong is whether the Conspirators vio-
lated Sylvia’s clearly established rights. This question 
is admittedly harder. You might reasonably think 
that if the First Amendment clearly establishes any-
thing, it’s that the government cannot arrest a citizen 
for her petition. That’s obviously been true since at 
least the English Declaration of Rights in 1689. See 1 
Wm. & Mary, ch. 2, 6 Statutes of the Realm 143 (“It 
is the Right of the Subjects to petition the King, and 
all Commitments and Prosecutions for such Petition-
ing are Illegal.”); see also Declaration and Resolves of 
the First Continental Congress Resolution 8  
(Oct. 14, 1774) (“That they have a right peaceably to 
assemble, consider of their grievances, and petition 
the king; and that all prosecutions, prohibitory proc-
lamations, and commitments for the same, are ille-
gal.”). 

On the other hand, in Reichle v. Howards, 566 U.S. 
658 (2012), the Court held that we cannot define the 
right against retaliatory arrests “as a broad general 
proposition.” Id. at 665 (quotation omitted). Rather, 
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“the right in question is not the general right to be 
free from retaliation for one’s speech, but the more 
specific right to be free from a retaliatory arrest that 
is otherwise supported by probable cause. This Court 
has never held that there is such a right.” Ibid. So 
Reichle might lead you to think that Sylvia cannot 
surmount the clearly-established-law prong. 

On yet another hand, however, Reichle (like 
Nieves) involved a split-second decision to arrest an 
unruly person in a public place. See id. at 661  
(describing the incident, in which Howards assaulted 
the Vice President, lied about it, and was arrested). 
Neither Reichle nor Nieves involved secret,  
deliberative, and intentional conspiracies to jail an el-
derly woman for petitioning the government. And it’s 
not at all clear that we should apply the same  
qualified-immunity inquiries for First Amendment 
cases, Fourth Amendment cases, split-second- 
decisionmaking cases, and deliberative-conspiracy 
cases. See, e.g., Hoggard v. Rhodes, 141 S. Ct. 2421, 
2421 (2021) (statement of Thomas, J., respecting the 
denial of certiorari) (criticizing the “one-size-fits-all 
doctrine”). As Justice Thomas has observed, “why 
should [speech-suppressing] officers, who have time 
to make calculated choices about enacting or  
enforcing unconstitutional policies, receive the same 
protection as a police officer who makes a split-second 
decision to use force in a dangerous setting? We have 
never offered a satisfactory explanation to this  
question.” Id. at 2422; see also Andrew S. Oldham,  
Official Immunity at the Founding, 46 HARV. J.L. & 
PUB. POL’Y --- (forthcoming) (manuscript at 26–27), 
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https://ssrn.com/abstract=3824983. That further sug-
gests that the Conspirators here should not get the 
same qualified-immunity benefits that cops on the 
beat might get. 

And in any event, Reichle was not the Court’s last 
word on the topic. In Lozman, the Court supplied the 
holding that Reichle said was theretofore missing—
namely, it held that retaliatory-arrest plaintiffs can 
prevail even when their arrests are supported by 
probable cause. 138 S. Ct at 1955. Moreover, as noted 
above, Lozman and our case involve materially iden-
tical facts. And the Supreme Court decided Lozman in 
2018—the year before the Conspirators jailed Sylvia 
for petitioning the government. So that might lead 
you to think that the Conspirators were given every 
conceivable form of fair notice—in a string of author-
ity from 1689 to 2018—that their conduct was fla-
grantly violative of the First Amendment.  
See Brosseau v. Haugen, 543 U.S. 194, 198 (2004) (per 
curiam) (Qualified immunity’s “focus is on whether 
the officer had fair notice that her conduct was  
unlawful.”).8 Whatever the right answer to this 

 
8 The timing of Nieves does nothing to help the Conspirators. 

The Court decided that case before Sylvia’s arrest, and hence the 
Conspirators were on notice that probable cause would not nec-
essarily defeat a retaliatory-arrest claim. See 139 S. Ct. at  
1727–28 (so holding); Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 232 
(2009) (“[T]he court must decide whether the right at issue was 
‘clearly established’ at the time of defendant’s alleged miscon-
duct.” (emphasis added)). It’s no answer to say, as the Conspira-
tors do, that they started conspiring to retaliate against Sylvia 
before Nieves was decided. Only the “plainly incompetent” would 
hatch a retaliatory plan before that decision and stick to it 
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question might be, my distinguished colleagues in the 
majority have no occasion to reach it. See ante, at 5–
11 (resolving the case on prong one of the qualified-
immunity inquiry). So I see little use in saying more 
about it. 

With deepest respect, I dissent.

 
afterwards. Ashcroft v. al-Kidd, 563 U.S. 731, 743 (2011) (quota-
tion omitted). 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS  
SAN ANTONIO DIVISION 

 
SYLVIA GONZALEZ, §  No. 5:20–CV–1151–DAE 
    § 

Plaintiff,  § 
    § 
v.    § 
    § 
CITY OF CASTLE  § 
HILLS, TEXAS;  § 
EDWARD TREVINO, II, § 
Mayor of Castle Hills; § 
JOHN SIEMENS, Chief § 
of the Castle Hills Police § 
Department; and   § 
ALEXANDER WRIGHT; § 
    § 

Defendants.  § 
 

ORDER DENYING MOTION TO DISMISS 
 

Before the Court is Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss 
Pursuant to Rule (12)(b)(6) that was filed on October 
12, 2020. (Dkt. # 13.) Sylvia Gonzalez (“Plaintiff”) 
filed a response on October 26, 2020. (Dkt. # 17.) De-
fendants then filed a reply on October 28, 2020. (Dkt. 
# 18.) Pursuant to Local Rule CV-7(h), the Court finds 
this matter suitable for disposition without a hearing. 
After careful consideration of the memoranda filed in 
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support of and against the motion, the Court—for the 
reasons that follow—DENIES the motion. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

This case concerns the alleged retaliatory arrest of 
Sylvia Gonzalez, a former councilmember of the City 
of Castle Hills. The City of Castle Hills (“City”) is lo-
cated in Bexar County, Texas and its governing body 
consists of a mayor and five aldermen, commonly re-
ferred to as councilmembers. (Dkt. # 1.) The City has 
adopted the city-manager form of government and 
delegated extensive authority to its city manager. 
(Id.) 

On May 4, 2019, Plaintiff was elected as the first 
Hispanic councilwoman in Castle Hills history. (Id.) 
Ten days later, she was sworn in as a councilmember 
by Bexar County Sheriff Javier Salazar. (Id.) City At-
torney Schnall was allegedly present at the ceremony 
and did not object to any part of the swearing-in. (Id.) 

Plaintiff organized a nonbinding citizens’ petition 
advocating for the removal of city manager Ryan 
Rapelye. (Dkt. # 17.) According to Plaintiff, the peti-
tion had no legal force—it was designed to merely ex-
press citizens’ discontent with Rapelye’s performance. 
(Dkt. # 1.) The petition proposed that the city council 
replace Rapelye with Diane Pfeil, who previously 
served as city manager. (Id.) On May 21, 2019, the day 
of Plaintiff’s first council meeting, a resident submit-
ted the petition to the city council. (Id.) The council 
argued over Rapelye’s job performance for two days, 
and during the two-day meeting, Plaintiff sat next to 
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Mayor Trevino. (Id.) Plaintiff claims that when the 
meeting ended, she stood up and walked away from 
her seat to speak with other councilmembers. (Id.) 
When she returned to gather her belongings, Mayor 
Trevino asked about the location of the petition. (Id.) 
Plaintiff allegedly found the petition in her binder and 
handed it to him. (Id.) Plaintiff argues that she did 
not intentionally place the petition in her binder and 
the petition never left the council table. (Id.) 

Plaintiff argues that in retaliation for the nonbind-
ing petition and her criticism of certain city officials, 
Defendants planned a scheme to retaliate against her. 
According to Plaintiff, Mayor Trevino tasked Police 
Chief Siemens with investigating and charging her 
for a criminal offense. (Id.) Siemens assigned a full-
time police officer to investigate Plaintiff and her pe-
tition. (Id.) According to Plaintiff, when the officer did 
not find anything, Siemens then hired Special Detec-
tive Wright (“Wright”). (Id.) Plaintiff states that 
Wright is not a police officer but is rather a full-time 
attorney in private practice with a police commission 
maintained by the City of Castle Hills. (Id.) After a 
month-long investigation, Wright brought one misde-
meanor charge against Plaintiff for tampering with a 
government record for allegedly attempting to steal 
the petition. (Dkt. # 1); see Tex. Penal Code  
§ 37.10(a)(3), (c)(1). Plaintiff contends that this charge 
“has never been brought against someone for even re-
motely similar conduct, and certainly not against 
someone for stealing their own petition.” (Dkt. # 17.) 
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Instead of issuing a summons for the nonviolent 
misdemeanor, Wright obtained a warrant to arrest 
the 72-year-old, which ensured that she would spend 
time in jail rather than remaining free and appearing 
before a judge.1 (Id.) Defendants also bypassed the 
Bexar County District Attorney’s Office, who upon 
later review, dismissed the charges. (Id.) 

According to Plaintiff, this was not the first time 
that Defendants had attempted to retaliate against 
her. Plaintiff claims that on July 9, 2019, before her 
arrest, Defendants used a made-up technicality re-
lated to the manner in which she was sworn in to at-
tempt to strip her of her council seat. (Id.) Plaintiff 
was sworn in by a sheriff, but Defendants alleged that 
because he was not “engaged in the performance of his 
duties,” she was sworn in improperly.2 (Id.) City At-
torney Schnall told her that she could not be re-sworn 
in because more than 30 days had elapsed since Plain-
tiff’s election. (Dkt. # 1.) For that reason, she would be 
replaced by Amy McLin, who Plaintiff beat in her elec-
tion. (Id.) 

After the city attorney prevented the council from 
voting on Plaintiff’s removal, Plaintiff filed suit and a 
judge issued a temporary restraining order on July 
17, 2019 enjoining Defendants from moving forward 
with her removal. (Id.) Having failed to remove 

 
1 When Plaintiff heard about the warrant, she turned herself 

in on July 18, 2019. (Dkt. # 1.) 
2 Plaintiff points out that this same technicality could have 

been used against Mayor Trevino, who was sworn in on the same 
day as Plaintiff. (Dkt. # 17); see Tex. Gov’t Code § 602.002(17). 
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Gonzalez, six Castle Hills residents—allegedly all 
closely allied with Mayor Trevino—filed a lawsuit in 
the name of the state of Texas to remove Gonzalez 
from office for incompetence and official misconduct. 
(Id.) After the District Attorney moved to dismiss the 
action, the district court judge dismissed the case and 
denied the motion for a new trial. (Dkt. # 1.) The six 
residents appealed the ruling and as of the date that 
Plaintiff filed her complaint in this case, the appeal 
was still pending. (Id.) According to Plaintiff, her at-
torneys reached out to opposing counsel to release her 
from the lawsuit. (Id.) However, opposing counsel con-
ditioned release on Plaintiff signing an affidavit stat-
ing that she would never run for city council again. 
(Id.) 

Plaintiff filed her complaint on September 29, 
2020, bringing a § 1983 claim against Defendants 
Mayor Trevino, Police Chief Siemens, and Detective 
Wright (collectively, “Individual Defendants”) for vio-
lating her First and Fourteenth Amendment rights. 
(Id.) She also brings a municipal liability claim pur-
suant to § 1983 against Defendant City of Castle Hills 
for violating her First and Fourteenth Amendment 
rights. (Id.); see Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 436 
U.S. 658 (1978). The matter before the Court is De-
fendants’ Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to Rule 
12(b)(6). (Dkt. # 13.) 

LEGAL STANDARD 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) author-
izes dismissal of a complaint for “failure to state a 
claim upon which relief can be granted.” To survive a 
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Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, a plaintiff must plead 
“enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible 
on its face.” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 
570 (2007). “A claim has facial plausibility when the 
plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court 
to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant 
is liable for the misconduct alleged.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 
556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). In analyzing whether to 
grant a 12(b)(6) motion, a court accepts as true “all 
well pleaded facts” and views those facts “in the light 
most favorable to the plaintiff.” United States ex rel. 
Vavra v. Kellogg Brown & Root, Inc., 727 F.3d 343, 
346 (5th Cir. 2013) (citation omitted). A court need not 
“accept as true a legal conclusion couched as a factual 
allegation.” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678. 

DISCUSSION 

In their motion to dismiss, Defendants request 
that the Court take judicial notice of the warrant that 
was issued for Plaintiff’s arrest. (See Dkt. # 13.) Be-
cause Plaintiff alleges that Defendants violated her 
constitutional rights by arresting her in retaliation 
for the nonbinding petition that she organized, the ex-
istence or nonexistence of probable cause is crucial 
when analyzing Plaintiff’s claims. Federal Rule of Ev-
idence 201 permits a district court to take judicial no-
tice of a “fact that is not subject to reasonable dispute 
because it (1) is generally known within the trial 
court’s territorial jurisdiction; or (2) can be accurately 
and readily determined from sources whose accuracy 
cannot reasonably be questioned.” Fed. R. Evid. 
201(b). A district court may take judicial notice of a 
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fact at the motion to dismiss stage. Basic Cap. Mgmt., 
Inc. v. Dynex Cap., Inc., 976 F.3d 585, 589 (5th Cir. 
2020). In fact, “it is clearly proper in deciding a 
12(b)(6) motion to take judicial notice of matters of 
public record.” Norris v. Hearst Trust, 500 F.3d 454, 
461 n.9 (5th Cir. 2007). Because the warrant is a pub-
lic record and bears the signature of the state court 
judge, the Court takes judicial notice of the warrant 
in considering the motion. See Dent v. Methodist 
Health Sys., No. 3:20-CV-00124-S, 2021 WL 75768, at 
*2 (N.D. Tex. Jan. 8, 2021) (taking judicial notice of a 
warrant attached to defendant’s motion to dismiss 
plaintiff’s § 1983 claim alleging false arrest). 

Defendants raise several arguments in support of 
their motion to dismiss Plaintiff’s claims. The Court 
will address their arguments in turn. 

I. Independent Intermediary Doctrine and Probable 
Cause 

Defendants maintain that Plaintiff’s claims 
should be dismissed under the independent interme-
diary doctrine. (Dkt. # 13.) The warrant for Plaintiff’s 
arrest was approved by a state court judge, who deter-
mined that there was probable cause for Plaintiff’s ar-
rest. (Id.) Because Plaintiff has not pled or proved the 
absence of probable cause, Defendants insist that 
Plaintiff’s claims are barred. (Id.) 

In response, Plaintiff argues that the independent 
intermediary doctrine does not apply because she did 
not bring her claims under the Fourth Amendment. 
(Dkt. # 17.) With respect to her municipal liability 
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claim, she also contends that under Lozman v. City of 
Riviera Beach, 138 S. Ct. 1945 (2018), Monell liability 
can exist when its leadership punishes an individual 
in retaliation for her speech, even if the city can find 
probable cause for an infraction. (Dkt. # 17.) With re-
spect to her claim against the Individual Defendants, 
Plaintiff argues that Nieves v. Bartlett, 139 S. Ct. 
1715 (2019) does not apply. (Id.) Instead, she contends 
that she only needs to meet the standard announced 
in Mt. Healthy City School District Board of Educa-
tion v. Doyle, 429 U.S. 274 (1977), and she has done 
so here. (Id.) In their reply, Defendants maintain that 
the independent intermediary doctrine applies in 
First Amendment cases. (Dkt. # 18.) They also con-
tend that neither Lozman nor Mount Healthy sup-
ports Plaintiff’s arguments. (Id.) 

“It is well settled that if facts supporting an arrest 
are placed before an independent intermediary such 
as a magistrate or grand jury, the intermediary’s de-
cision breaks the chain of causation for false arrest, 
insulating the initiating party.” Deville v. Marcantel, 
567 F.3d 156, 170 (5th Cir. 2009) (quoting Taylor v. 
Gregg, 36 F.3d 453, 456 (5th Cir. 1994)). “[T]he initi-
ating party may be liable for false arrest if the plain-
tiff shows that ‘the deliberations of that intermediary 
were in some way tainted by the actions of the defend-
ant.’” Id. (quoting Hand v. Gary, 838 F.2d 1420, 1428 
(5th Cir. 1988)). But, “because the intermediary’s de-
liberations protect even officers with malicious in-
tent,” a plaintiff must show that the official’s mali-
cious motive led the official to withhold relevant in-
formation or otherwise misdirect the independent 
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intermediary by omission or commission. Buehler v. 
City of Austin/Austin Police Dep’t., 824 F.3d 548, 555 
(5th Cir. 2016); Buehler v. Dear, No. 1:17-CV-724-
DAE, 2020 WL 5793008, at *6 (W.D. Tex. Mar. 27, 
2020). 

Although Defendants have correctly pointed out 
that the Fifth Circuit has held that the independent 
intermediary doctrine applies in First Amendment 
cases,3 those cases predate two leading Supreme 
Court cases, Lozman and Nieves, which are particu-
larly instructive here because they both concern when 
plaintiffs must make a no-probable-cause showing in 
support of a First Amendment retaliatory arrest 
claim. The Court will first consider Plaintiff’s munic-
ipal liability claim before addressing her claim 
against the Individual Defendants. 

A. Municipal liability claim 

The U.S. Supreme Court has held that the exist-
ence of probable cause does not bar all First Amend-
ment retaliatory arrest claims brought against a 

 
3 See Curtis v. Sowell, 761 F. App’x 302, 205 (5th Cir. 2019) 

(holding that the district court did not err in dismissing the 
plaintiff’s First Amendment claim because “probable cause was 
independently established by [a] grand jury”); Buehler v. City of 
Austin/Austin Police Dep’t, 824 F.3d 548, 554 (5th Cir. 2016); 
Russell v. Altom, 546 F. App’x 432, 436–37 (5th Cir. 2013). Alt-
hough Curtis does not predate Lozman, the Fifth Circuit noted 
in a footnote that Lozman did not apply because the plaintiff did 
not allege that the defendant prosecuted him as part of an “offi-
cial retaliatory policy” to silence him. Curtis, 761 F. App’x at  
305 n.1. 
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municipality. In Lozman, the plaintiff frequently crit-
icized a municipal development project and opposed 
what he perceived as improper conduct by various city 
officials. 138 S. Ct. at 1950. The plaintiff, Lozman, 
participated in the public-comment session of the city 
council meetings more than 200 times and he filed a 
lawsuit alleging that the city council violated Flor-
ida’s open-meetings laws. Id. At one council meeting, 
he stood at the podium and began speaking about ar-
rests of former officials. Id. One councilmember told 
him to stop talking, and a police officer approached 
Lozman and asked him to leave the podium. Id. When 
he refused, Lozman was arrested and charged with 
disorderly conduct and resisting arrest without vio-
lence. Id. at 1949–50. The State’s attorney later deter-
mined that there was probable cause to arrest Loz-
man for the offenses but decided to dismiss the 
charges. Id. at 1950. Lozman filed a lawsuit against 
the City for its alleged retaliatory actions, and after a 
19-day trial, the jury returned a verdict for the City 
on all claims. Id. When the case reached the U.S. Su-
preme Court, the plaintiff challenged only the City’s 
alleged retaliatory arrest. Id. 

The Supreme Court held that the existence of 
probable cause does not bar all First Amendment re-
taliatory arrest claims brought against a municipal-
ity. Id. at 1955. The fact that the plaintiff had to prove 
the existence and enforcement of an official policy mo-
tivated by retaliation separated his claim from the 
typical retaliatory arrest claim. Id. at 1954. The Court 
explained, 
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An official retaliatory policy is a particu-
larly troubling and potent form of retali-
ation, for a policy can be long term and 
pervasive, unlike an ad hoc, on-the-spot 
decision by an individual officer. An offi-
cial policy also can be difficult to dis-
lodge. A citizen who suffers retaliation by 
an individual officer can seek to have the 
officer disciplined or removed from ser-
vice, but there may be little practical re-
course when the government itself or-
chestrates the  retaliation. 

Id. Further, the causation problem in retaliatory ar-
rest cases “is not of the same difficulty where, as is 
alleged here, the official policy is retaliation for prior, 
protected speech bearing little relation to the criminal 
offense for which the arrest is made.” Id. Finally, the 
Supreme Court noted that the “right to petition ‘[i]s 
one of the most precious of the liberties safeguarded 
by the Bill of Rights.’” Id. (quoting BE & K. Constr. 
Co. v. NLRB, 536 U.S. 516, 524 (2002)). Because Loz-
man alleged that the City deprived him of the right to 
petition by retaliating against him for his lawsuit and 
criticisms of public officials, Lozman’s speech was 
“high in the hierarchy of First Amendment values.” 
Id. 

The Court finds that Lozman controls here. First, 
Plaintiff alleges the existence of a retaliatory policy,4 

 
4 For example, Plaintiff alleges “Castle Hills adopted and en-

forced an official policy or custom to retaliate against Sylvia for 
her First Amendment activities, namely the expression of her 
political thought through a nonbinding citizens’ petition urging 
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just as the plaintiff alleged in Lozman. (See Dkt. # 1.) 
Second, like Lozman, this is not an ordinary retalia-
tory arrest claim—here, Plaintiff alleges that Defend-
ants tried many times to strip her of her council seat. 
(See id.) For example, according to Plaintiff, Defend-
ants attempted to strip her of her council seat pursu-
ant to a swearing-in technicality, a lawsuit brought 
by residents who are allegedly closely allied with De-
fendants, and an arrest. (See id.) And even then, the 
nonviolent misdemeanor offense was brought because 
she allegedly stole her own petition. (See id.) Thus, 
the connection between the alleged animus and injury 
will not be “weakened . . . by [an official’s] legitimate 
consideration of speech.” Lozman, 138 S. Ct. at 1954 
(quoting Reichle v. Howards, 566 U.S. 658, 668 
(2012)). Finally, because the “right to petition [i]s one 
of the most precious of the liberties safeguarded by 
the Bill of Rights,” Plaintiff’s speech is “high in the 
hierarchy of First Amendment values.” Id. “For these 
reasons, [Gonzalez] need not prove the absence of 
probable cause to maintain a claim of retaliatory ar-
rest against the City.”5 Id. at 1955. 

 
the firing of city manager Rapelye.” (Dkt. # 1.) Plaintiff further 
alleges “[t]his scheme was a part of an official policy or custom 
that was deliberate, long-term, and pervasive, unlike on-the-spot 
decisions to arrest, sometimes made by individual officers in 
split-second situations.” (Id.) 

5 Although the Supreme Court noted that cases like Lozman 
“will require objective evidence of a policy motivated by retalia-
tion to survive summary judgment,” this is a motion to dismiss 
and Plaintiff has satisfied her pleading requirements under Rule 
8. Lozman v. City of Riviera Beach, 138 S. Ct. 1945, 1954 (2018). 
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The Court recognizes that Lozman involved an 
atypical retaliatory arrest claim. Id. at 1954 (charac-
terizing claims such as the one in Lozman as a 
“unique class of retaliatory arrest claims” and stating 
that “Lozman’s claim is far afield from the typical re-
taliatory arrest claim”). The Supreme Court stated 
that “[o]n facts like these, Mt. Healthy provides the 
correct standard for assessing a retaliatory arrest 
claim” and “[t]he Court need not, and does not, ad-
dress the elements required to prove a retaliatory ar-
rest claim in other contexts.” Id. at 1955. However, as 
the Court discusses above, Lozman and this case 
share many crucial facts. Further, Defendants, who 
did not even cite Lozman in their motion to dismiss, 
have failed to distinguish Lozman from this case. 
First, in their reply, Defendants assert that Lozman 
is different because it was not decided at the pleading 
stage—it was an appeal from an adverse jury verdict 
after a 19-day trial. (See Dkt. # 18.) However, Defend-
ants do not explain why or how these distinct stages 
of litigation necessarily require a different outcome. 
At this stage of the litigation, Plaintiff need only plead 
“enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible 
on its face.” Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570. Second, De-
fendants state that Lozman’s claim was “far afield 
from the typical retaliatory arrest claim.” (Dkt. # 18.) 
However, as described above, the characteristics of 
Lozman that distinguish that case from typical retal-
iatory arrest cases are present in this case as well. 
Third, Defendants state that Lozman’s arrest was 
only part of the City’s retaliatory conduct. (Id.) But, 
as described above, Plaintiff alleges that other retali-
atory actions were taken in this case too. The Court 
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discussed above why causation is not weakened in 
this case by not requiring Plaintiff to prove the ab-
sence of probable cause. Therefore, the Court will not 
dismiss Plaintiff’s claims against the City merely be-
cause probable cause may have existed for the misde-
meanor offense. 

B. Claim Against Individual Defendants 

Nieves involved a retaliatory arrest claim against 
two police officers. 139 S. Ct. at 1724, 1726. The plain-
tiff, Bartlett, was arrested at a winter sports festival 
in a remote part of Alaska. Id. at 1720. While a law 
enforcement officer was speaking with a group of at-
tendees, Bartlett shouted at them to stop talking to 
the police. Id. When the officer approached him, Bart-
lett yelled at the officer to leave. Id. Bartlett then 
confronted another law enforcement officer who was 
questioning a minor. Id. He stepped towards the of-
ficer in an allegedly combative manner, who pushed 
him back. Id. Bartlett was arrested for disorderly 
conduct and resisting arrest. Id. at 1721. He brought 
a § 1983 claim against the officers, alleging that they 
violated his First Amendment rights by arresting him 
in retaliation for his speech (i.e., his initial refusal to 
speak with the first officer and his intervention in the 
second officer’s discussion with the minor). Id. 

The U.S. Supreme Court held that in most retali-
atory arrest cases, the plaintiff must plead and prove 
the absence of probable cause for the arrest.6 Id. at 

 
6 The Court noted that Lozman did not apply here because 

that case “involved unusual circumstances in which the plaintiff 
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1724, 1726. In reaching this decision, the Court ex-
plained the complex causal inquiry in these cases, 
particularly given that “[o]fficers frequently make 
‘split-second judgments’ when deciding whether to ar-
rest, and the content and manner of a suspect’s speech 
may convey vital information—for example, if he is 
‘ready to cooperate’ or rather ‘present[s] a continuing 
threat.’” Id. at 1724 (quoting Lozman, 138 S. Ct. at 
1953). 

However, the Supreme Court also carved out an 
exception to this general rule.7 The Court stated that 
“the no-probable-cause requirement should not apply 
when a plaintiff presents objective evidence that he 
was arrested when otherwise similarly situated indi-
viduals not engaged in the same sort of protected 
speech had not been.”8 Id. at 1727. The Court 

 
was arrested pursuant to an alleged ‘official municipal policy’ of 
retaliation.” Nieves v. Bartlett, 139 S. Ct. 1715, 1722 (2019). 

7 This is not to be confused with Plaintiff’s characterization 
of Nieves as an exception to Mt. Healthy. (Dkt. # 17.) The Su-
preme Court states in Nieves that the Mt. Healthy test applies 
only if the plaintiff establishes the absence of probable cause. 
Nieves, 139 S. Ct. at 1725; see DeMartini v. Town of Gulf 
Stream, 942 F.3d 1277, 1296 (11th Cir. 2019). Absent such a 
showing, the retaliatory arrest claim fails unless it falls within 
the Nieves exception. 139 S. Ct. at 1725, 1727. In Plaintiff’s re-
sponse to Defendants’ motion to dismiss, she does not argue that 
there was no probable cause for her arrest. Thus, in deciding De-
fendants’ motion to dismiss, the Court will evaluate Plaintiff’s 
claim under Nieves rather than Mt. Healthy. 

8 The Supreme Court provided the following example of a 
case that would fall under the exception: 
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reasoned that such a showing addresses the causal 
concern by helping to establish that “non-retaliatory 
grounds [we]re in fact insufficient to provoke the ad-
verse consequences.” Id. (quoting Hartman v. Moore, 
547 U.S. 250, 256 (2006)). Because this inquiry is ob-
jective, it avoids the problems that would be created 
by reviewing the officers’ subjective intent. Id. Fur-
ther, “[a]fter making the required showing, the plain-
tiff’s claim may proceed in the same manner as claims 
where the plaintiff has met the threshold showing of 
the absence of probable cause.” Id. 

The Court finds that the Nieves exception applies 
in this case and Plaintiff need not plead or prove the 
absence of probable cause. Plaintiff alleges that the 
misdemeanor offense for which she was charged has 
“never been used in Bexar County to criminally 
charge someone for trying to steal a nonbinding or ex-
pressive document.” (See Dkt. # 1.) In support of her 
argument, Plaintiff states that misdemeanor and fel-
ony data from Bexar County over the past decade 
shows that of “215 grand jury felony indictments ob-
tained under the tampering statute at issue in this 
case, not one had an allegation even closely 

 
[A]t many intersections, jaywalking is endemic 
but rarely results in arrest. If an individual who 
has been vocally complaining about police con-
duct is arrested for jaywalking at such an inter-
section, it would seem insufficiently protective of 
First Amendment rights to dismiss the individ-
ual’s retaliatory arrest claim on the ground that 
there was undoubted probable cause for the ar-
rest. 

Nieves, 139 S. Ct. at 1727. 
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resembling the one mounted against Sylvia.” (Id.) Ac-
cording to Plaintiff, most of the indictments involved 
accusations of either “using or making fake govern-
ment identification documents: altered driver’s li-
censes, another person’s ID, temporary identification 
cards, public safety permits, green cards, or social se-
curity numbers” and some indictments involved mis-
use of financial information. (Id.) The “outlier” indict-
ments allegedly involve “hiding evidence of murder, 
cheating on a government-issued exam, and using a 
fake certificate of title, among others.” (Id.) In the 
misdemeanor cases, Plaintiff claims that the alleged 
tampering typically involved the use of fake social se-
curity numbers, driver’s licenses, and green cards. 
(Id.) Plaintiff further argues that according to the 
data, people accused of such nonviolent offenses typi-
cally do not go to jail. (Id.) At the motion to dismiss 
stage, the Court accepts as true Plaintiff’s well 
pleaded facts and views those facts “in the light most 
favorable to the plaintiff.” Kellogg Brown, 727 F.3d at 
346. Because Plaintiff alleges the existence of objec-
tive evidence that she was arrested when “otherwise 
similarly situated individuals not engaged in the 
same sort of protected speech had not been,” the Court 
will not dismiss Plaintiff’s § 1983 claim against the 
Individual Defendants for failing to plead and prove 
the absence of probable cause. Nieves, 139 S. Ct. at 
1727. 
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II. Qualified Immunity 

The parties seem to disagree on Plaintiff’s burden 
to defeat the qualified immunity defense on a motion 
to dismiss. Defendants contend that once a qualified 
immunity defense is raised, the Fifth Circuit requires 
a plaintiff to meet a heightened pleading standard “to 
show with factual detail and particularity why the de-
fendant official cannot maintain the qualified immun-
ity defense.” (Dkt. # 13) (citing Elliot v. Perez, 751 
F.2d 1472, 1473 (5th Cir. 1985), Schultea v. Wood, 47 
F.3d 1427, 1429–34 (5th Cir. 1995), and Morgan v. 
Hubert, 335 F. App’x 466, 472–73 (5th Cir. 2009)). 

In response, Plaintiff maintains that the district 
court must merely determine whether the plaintiff 
has “file[d] a short and plain statement [in] his com-
plaint, a statement that rests on more than conclu-
sions alone.” Anderson v. Valdez, 845 F.3d 580, 589–
90 (5th Cir. 2016) (quoting Schultea, 47 F.3d at 1433); 
(Dkt. # 17.) In other words, “a plaintiff must plead 
qualified-immunity facts with the minimal specificity 
that would satisfy Twombly and Iqbal.” (Dkt. # 17) 
(quoting Arnold v. Williams, 976 F.3d 535, 540 (5th 
Cir. 2020)). 

In the Fifth Circuit, 

[s]ection 1983 claims implicating quali-
fied immunity are subject to the same 
Rule 8 pleading standard set forth in 
Twombly and Iqbal as all other claims; 
an assertion of qualified immunity in a 
defendant’s answer or motion to dismiss 
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does not subject the complaint to a 
heightened pleadings standard. 

Arnold v. Williams, 979 F.3d 262, 267 (5th Cir. 2020). 
Defendants’ reliance on Schultea is mistaken. Schul-
tea states that “[w]hen a public official pleads the af-
firmative defense of qualified immunity in his an-
swer, the district court may, on the official’s motion or 
on its own, require the plaintiff to reply to that de-
fense in detail.” 47 F.3d at 1433. However, the Court 
did not do so in this case and Plaintiff is not required 
“to anticipate a defendant’s qualified immunity de-
fense by providing greater specificity in their initial 
complaint.” DeGroff v. Bost, No. 6:20-CV-00067-ADA-
JCM, 2020 WL 6528078, at *4 (W.D. Tex. Nov. 5, 
2020) (citing Crawford-El v. Britton, 523 U.S. 574, 
595 (1998)). In the context of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion 
to dismiss, the Court must determine whether “the 
plaintiff’s pleadings assert facts which, if true, would 
overcome the defense of qualified immunity.” Backe v. 
LeBlanc, 691 F.3d 645, 648 (5th Cir. 2012) (quoting 
Wicks v. Miss. State Emp. Servs., 41 F.3d 991, 994–
95 (5th Cir. 1995)); see Saenz v. G4S Secure Solutions 
(USA), Inc., 224 F. Supp. 3d 477, 481 (W.D. Tex. 
2016); Rojero v. El Paso County, 226 F. Supp. 3d 768, 
776–77 (W.D. Tex. 2016). Thus, the Court agrees with 
Plaintiff concerning her burden of overcoming the 
qualified immunity defense at the motion to dismiss 
stage. 

“[A] plaintiff seeking to overcome qualified im-
munity must plead specific facts that both allow the 
court to draw the reasonable inference that the 
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defendant is liable for the harm he has alleged and 
that defeat a qualified immunity defense with equal 
specificity.” Backe, 691 F.3d at 648. Once the district 
court finds that the plaintiff has so pled, if the court 
remains “unable to rule on the immunity defense 
without further clarification of the facts,” it may issue 
a discovery order “narrowly tailored to uncover only 
those facts needed to rule on the immunity claim.” Id. 
(quoting Lion Boulos v. Wilson, 834 F.2d 504, 507–08 
(5th Cir. 1987)). 

Qualified immunity shields government officials 
from liability when performing discretionary func-
tions “insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly 
established statutory or constitutional rights of which 
a reasonable person would have known.” Kinney v. 
Weaver, 367 F.3d 337, 349 (5th Cir. 2004). Courts 
evaluate qualified immunity defenses in two steps. 
First, a court must determine whether the “facts al-
leged show the officer’s conduct violated a constitu-
tional right.” Brown v. Miller, 519 F.3d 231, 236 (5th 
Cir. 2008) (quoting Scott v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 377 
(2007)). Second, if the court finds a violation, it must 
determine whether “the right was clearly  
established . . . in light of the specific context of the 
case.” Id. (quoting Saucier v. Katz, 533 U.S. 194, 201 
(2001)). To be “clearly established” for purposes of 
qualified immunity, “the contours of the right must be 
sufficiently clear that a reasonable official would un-
derstand that what he is doing violates that right.” Id. 
(quoting Atteberry v. Nocona Gen. Hosp., 430 F.3d 
245, 256 (5th Cir. 2005)). There need not be “com-
manding precedent” that holds that the “very action 
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in question” is unlawful; the unlawfulness need only 
be “readily apparent from relevant precedent in suffi-
ciently similar situations.” Id. at 237 (quoting At-
teberry, 430 F.3d at 257). 

The right allegedly violated must be established 
not as a broad general proposition, but in a “particu-
larized” sense “so that the ‘contours’ of the right are 
clear to a reasonable official.” Reichle v. Howards, 566 
U.S. 658, 665 (2012). “Here, the right in question is 
not the general right to be free from retaliation for 
one’s speech, but the more specific right to be free 
from a retaliatory arrest that is otherwise supported 
by probable cause.” Id. “[T]he First Amendment pro-
hibits government officials from subjecting an indi-
vidual to retaliatory actions” for engaging in protected 
speech. Hartman v. Moore, 547 U.S. 250, 256 (2006). 
If an official takes actions against someone based on 
the forbidden motive and “non-retaliatory grounds 
are in fact insufficient to provoke the adverse conse-
quences,” the injured person may seek relief by bring-
ing a First Amendment claim. Id.; see Nieves, 139 S. 
Ct. at 1722. To prevail on this claim, “a plaintiff must 
establish a ‘causal connection’ between the govern-
ment defendant’s ‘retaliatory animus’ and the plain-
tiff’s ‘subsequent injury.’” Nieves, 139 S. Ct. at 1722 
(quoting Hartman, 547 U.S. at 259). The motive must 
be a “but-for” cause of the injury, such that the ad-
verse action would not have been taken absent the re-
taliatory motive. Id. As described above, the plaintiff 
typically must plead and prove the absence of proba-
ble cause for the arrest unless “a plaintiff presents ob-
jective evidence that he was arrested when otherwise 



86a 

Appendix C 

similarly situated individuals not engaged in the 
same sort of protected speech had not been.” Id. at 
1727. 

The Court finds that, viewing the facts in the light 
most favorable to Plaintiff, the Individual Defendants 
violated Plaintiff’s constitutional rights. Plaintiff al-
leges that she was arrested because she organized a 
nonbinding citizens’ petition, not because she at-
tempted to steal her own petition. (Dkt. # 1.) She 
claims that the Individual Defendants acted with a 
retaliatory motive by alleging that they took several 
actions to attempt to take away her council seat. (Id.) 
She further alleges that “[t]he retaliatory arrest man-
ufactured by the City and the Individual Defendants 
directly and proximately caused severe harms” in-
cluding harm to Plaintiff’s reputation, future oppor-
tunities, finances, faith in the criminal justice system, 
and physical health. (Id.) These allegations support 
the existence of a retaliatory motive and causation. As 
described above, even if there were probable cause to 
arrest Plaintiff for the misdemeanor, the exception in 
Nieves applies here because she has pled the exist-
ence of objective evidence that she was arrested when 
“otherwise similarly situated individuals not engaged 
in the same sort of protected speech had not been.” 
139 S. Ct. at 1727. Therefore, Plaintiff has alleged the 
existence of a constitutional violation. 

To show that a right was “clearly established,” a 
plaintiff must identify either “controlling authority” 
or a “consensus of cases of persuasive authority” suf-
ficient to clearly signal to a reasonable official that 
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certain conduct falls short of the constitutional norm. 
Wilson v. Layne, 526 U.S. 603, 617 (1999). The Court 
finds that when Plaintiff was arrested, this right was 
clearly established. Before Nieves, the U.S. Supreme 
Court held that the First Amendment right to be free 
from a retaliatory arrest that is supported by probable 
cause was not clearly established. See Reichle, 566 
U.S. at 664–65 (“This Court has never recognized a 
First Amendment right to be free from a retaliatory 
arrest that is supported by probable cause . . . [the 
arresting officers] are thus not entitled to qualified 
immunity.”); Lozman, 138 S. Ct. at 1954 (“[W]hether 
in a retaliatory arrest case [a suit should be barred] 
where probable cause exists . . . must await a different 
case.”). Other courts have found that this was not a 
clearly established right before Nieves. See Lund v. 
City of Rockford, 956 F.3d 938, 948–49 (7th Cir. 2020) 
(holding that the officers were entitled to qualified im-
munity because the incident occurred before Nieves 
was decided); Phillips v. Blair, 786 F. App’x 519, 529 
(6th Cir. 2019) (holding that there was no First 
Amendment right to be free from a retaliatory arrest 
otherwise supported by probable cause that was 
clearly established in 2014); Turner v. Williams, No. 
3:19-CV-641-J-32PDB, 2020 WL 1904016, at *9 (M.D. 
Fla. Apr. 17, 2020) (“[I]t was not clearly established 
until Nieves, that an officer could be liable for an al-
leged retaliatory arrest” even where probable cause is 
present); Woolum v. City of Dallas, No. 3:18-cv-2453-
B-BN, 2020 WL 687614, at *11 (N.D. Tex. Jan. 22, 
2020) (holding that Nieves did not make the right 
clearly established in the case because the alleged 
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retaliatory arrest occurred in 2017)9; Cano v. Vickery, 
Civ. A. No. H-16-392, 2018 WL 4567169, at *6 (S.D. 
Tex. Sept. 24, 2018) (holding that qualified immunity 
did not apply before Nieves). The Supreme Court has 
stated that “in [some] instances a general constitu-
tional rule already identified in the decisional law 
may apply with obvious clarity to the specific conduct 
in question, even though ‘the very action in question 
has [not] previously been held unlawful.’” United 
States v. Lanier, 520 U.S. 259, 271 (1997) (quoting 
Anderson v. Creighton, 483 U.S. 635, 640 (1987)). 

Nieves was decided on May 28, 2019. The warrant 
for Plaintiff’s arrest was issued on July 17, 2019 and 
Plaintiff turned herself in on July 18, 2019. (See  
Dkts. ## 1, 13.) Because Nieves was decided two 
months before the alleged retaliatory arrest, the 
Court finds that the right was clearly established.  
See Turner v. Lieutenant Driver, 848 F.3d 678, 685 
(5th Cir. 2017) (“The right must be clearly  
established ‘at the time of the challenged  
conduct.’”). Plaintiff further alleges that “[e]very  
reasonable government official would have had a fair 
warning that [retaliating against individuals in  
violation of the First Amendment] and  
participating in a scheme to do so is  
unconstitutional.” (Dkt. # 1.) The Court finds that  
Defendants have not shown that they are entitled to 
qualified immunity and thus the Court will not 

 
9 The district court judge for this case adopted the recom-

mendation of the magistrate judge in Woolum v. City of Dallas, 
No. 3:18-CV-2453-B-BN, 2020 WL 636903, at *1 (N.D. Tex. Feb. 
11, 2020). 
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dismiss Plaintiff’s claims against the Individual De-
fendants. 

III. Municipal liability 

Defendants argue that Plaintiff fails to properly 
allege its municipal liability claim. (Dkt. # 13.)  
According to Defendants, Plaintiff failed to allege 
facts supporting “single incident” liability or that 
Mayor Trevino, Police Chief Siemens, or Special De-
tective Wright are final policymakers. (Id.) Defend-
ants further maintain that Plaintiff did not allege the 
existence of a written policy or custom, or that any 
policy or custom caused the alleged constitutional vi-
olation. (Id.) Finally, Defendants insist that Plaintiff 
has not alleged the existence of a pattern of similar 
incidents that can be used to show deliberate indiffer-
ence. (Id.)  

In response, Plaintiff states that she has  
adequately pled that her arrest was “a constitutional 
violation whose moving force [was] that policy (or  
custom)” by stating “had Castle Hills lacked animus 
toward Sylvia’s speech, it would have never  
devised, adopted or implemented its policy of  
retaliation.” (Dkt. # 17 (citing Dkt. # 1.)) Plaintiff 
maintains that Defendants’ causation argument is 
foreclosed by Lozman and urges the Court to find  
that she has adequately pled that the Individual  
Defendants were policymakers and participated in 
the retaliatory policy. (Id.) 

Municipal liability under § 1983 requires proof of 
three elements: (1) a policymaker; (2) an official 
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policy; and (3) a violation of constitutional rights 
whose “moving force” is the policy or custom.  
Piotrowski v. City of Houston, 237 F.3d 567, 578 (5th 
Cir. 2001). 

A. Policy Maker 

To impose municipal liability, there must be an of-
ficial policymaker “with actual or constructive 
knowledge of the constitutional violation” that acted 
on behalf of the municipality. Zarnow v. City of Wich-
ita Falls, 614 F.3d 161, 167 (5th Cir. 2010). “The poli-
cymaker must have final policymaking authority.” Ri-
vera v. Hous. Indep. Sch. Dist., 349 F.3d 244, 247 (5th 
Cir. 2003). Whether a specific official has final policy-
making authority is a question of state law. Jett v. 
Dallas Indep. Sch. Dist., 491 U.S. 701, 737 (1989). In 
the Fifth Circuit, “the specific identity of the policy-
maker is a legal question that need not be pled; the 
complaint need only allege facts that show an official 
policy, promulgated or ratified by the policymaker, 
under which the municipality is said to be liable.” 
Groden v. City of Dallas, 826 F.3d 280, 284 (5th Cir. 
2016). 

Plaintiff has provided two pages of allegations in 
support of her claim that City Manager Rapelye, City 
Attorney Schnall, councilmember McCormick, and 
the Individual Defendants in this case are policymak-
ers with policymaking authority. (See Dkt. # 1.) For 
example, Plaintiff alleges that “[a]s mayor—president 
of the city council—defendant Trevino is a municipal 
policymaker, and his decisions and actions described 
in this complaint represent official Castle Hills 
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Policy.” (Id.) With respect to Police Chief Siemens, 
Plaintiff states that “[a]s police chief—executive head 
of the police department—defendant Siemens is a mu-
nicipal policymaker, and his decisions and actions de-
scribed in this complaint represent official Castle 
Hills policy.” (Id.) With respect to Wright, Plaintiff 
states that 

[a]s special detective—charged directly 
by defendant Siemens and defendant 
Trevino with assigning [a] criminal 
charge to Sylvia—defendant Wright’s de-
cisions and actions described in this com-
plaint represent official Castle Hills pol-
icy. Alternatively, as policymakers su-
pervising and directing defendant 
Wright, defendant Siemens, defendant 
Trevino, city manager Rapelye, and 
councilmember McCormick ratified de-
fendant Wright’s actions as municipal 
policy. 

(Dkt. #1.) 

Upon analyzing the Code of Ordinances for the 
City of Castle Hills, it appears that none of Plaintiff’s 
suggested policymakers have “final policymaking au-
thority.” Given that Plaintiff challenges the alleged 
retaliatory arrest, the Court will first determine 
whether Police Chief Siemens has policymaking au-
thority given that in Castle Hills, he “is the executive 
head of the police department.” Code of Ordinances, 
City of Castle Hills, Texas § 24-21. Although the code 
states that the duties of the police chief are “to 
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supervise, regulate, and manage the department and 
have control of all its activities,” the code also states 
that the police chief “is directly responsible to the city 
manager for the proper and efficient operation of the 
department.” Id. Thus, because he directly reports to 
the city manager, Police Chief Siemens does not have 
final policymaking authority here. 

City manager Rapelye also does not have final pol-
icymaking authority. In the City of Castle Hills, the 
city manager is appointed by the city council and 
serves as “the administrative head of the municipal 
government under the direction and supervision of 
the council.” Id. § 2-134. Again, given that the city 
manager is merely the administrative head “under 
the direction and supervision of” the council, City 
Manager Rapelye also does not have final policymak-
ing authority.10  

Mayor Trevino also does not have policymaking 
authority. Although the mayor serves as the presi-
dent of the city council and presides at the meetings, 
he does not have a vote at the meetings unless the city 
council is divided. Id. § 2-108. Practically speaking, it 

 
10 Where local law does not delegate authority from the coun-

cil to the city manager, the city manager does not have final pol-
icymaking authority here. The Fifth Circuit has held that Texas 
“state law alone does not give to city managers ‘the responsibility 
for making law or setting policy in any given area of a local gov-
ernment’s business.’” Bolton v. City of Dallas, 541 F.3d 545, 550 
(5th Cir. 2008); see Tex. Local Gov’t Code Ann. § 25.029. “State 
law instead reserves that role for the ‘governing body.’” Bolton, 
541 F.3d at 550. 
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appears that this should not happen often given that 
five alderman serve on the city council. See id. § 2-23. 

“A city’s governing body may delegate policymak-
ing authority (1) by express statement or formal ac-
tion or (2) ‘it may, by its conduct or practice, encour-
age or acknowledge the agent in a policymaking role.’” 
Zarnow, 614 F.3d at 167 (quoting Bennett v. City of 
Slidell, 728 F.2d 762, 769 (5th Cir. 1984)). The Court 
finds that the city council has the final policymaking 
authority in this case, and to the Court’s knowledge, 
there has been no delegation of this authority. Fur-
ther, while the council is comprised of the mayor and 
five aldermen, it cannot be said that an individual 
member of the council has final policymaking author-
ity when it has been vested in the entire council. How-
ever, the fact that individual council members were 
aware of the incidents described in this lawsuit leads 
the Court to conclude that is premature to determine 
that the council did not have “actual or constructive 
knowledge of the constitutional violation” while act-
ing on behalf of the municipality. Id. 

Even though Plaintiff failed to specifically identify 
the city council as a policymaker in the complaint, 
this is not a proper basis for dismissal. “[T]he com-
plaint need only allege facts that show an official pol-
icy, promulgated or ratified by the policymaker, under 
which the municipality is said to be liable.” Groden, 
826 F.3d at 284. The Court will thus need to deter-
mine whether the city council promulgated or ratified 
the custom or policy alleged by Plaintiff. 
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B. Custom or Policy  

A plaintiff may establish the existence of an official 
policy by showing “(1) a formally adopted municipal 
policy; (2) an informal custom or practice; (3) a custom 
or policy of inadequate training, supervision, disci-
pline, screening, or hiring; or (4) a single act by an of-
ficial with final policymaking authority.” Snow v. 
City of El Paso, 501 F. Supp. 2d 826, 831 (W.D. Tex. 
2006); see Monell, 436 U.S. at 694 (establishing that  
§ 1983 municipal liability claims may be based on an 
officially adopted and promulgated policy); Johnson v. 
Moore, III, 958 F.2d 92, 94 (5th Cir. 1992) (explaining 
that municipal liability may be based on “persistent 
and widespread practice” of which actual or construc-
tive knowledge is attributable to the policymaking au-
thority); City of Canton v. Harris, 489 U.S. 378, 385–
88 (1989) (explaining that § 1983 municipal liability 
claims may be based on inadequacy of training where 
the failure to train amounts to deliberate indifference 
to the rights of persons); Pembaur v. City of Cincin-
nati, 475 U.S. 469, 480–81 (1986) (explaining that 
“municipal liability may be imposed for a single deci-
sion by municipal policymakers under appropriate 
circumstances”). 

Plaintiff cannot establish “single incident” liability 
because she has not alleged that the retaliatory arrest 
was orchestrated by the city council, the final policy-
maker. However, the Court finds that Plaintiff has 
met her burden of pleading the existence of “a persis-
tent, widespread practice of city officials or 
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employees, which, although not authorized by offi-
cially adopted and promulgated policy, is so common 
and well-settled as to constitute a custom that fairly 
represents municipal policy.” Webster v. City of Hou-
ston, 735 F.2d 838, 841 (5th Cir. 1984). Showing a pat-
tern of conduct is necessary “only where the munici-
pal actors are not policymakers.” Zarnow, 614 F.3d at 
169. Plaintiff asserts that “Castle Hills has a history 
of cracking down on disfavored speech” and has “re-
taliate[ed] against city residents who voice criticism 
of the City or its officials or who petition the City for 
redress of grievances.” (Dkt. # 1.) Plaintiff provides 
two examples. According to Plaintiff, in 2017 or 2018, 
a local resident was threatened by “the former police 
chief, the former mayor, and the former city manager” 
at his home after he organized a petition to advocate 
for the closing of an impound lot in his neighborhood. 
(Id.) Plaintiff also claims that in 2018, the former 
mayor threatened another city resident with an ease-
ment violation after the resident put up opposition 
campaign signs on private front yards with owner per-
mission. (Id.) Defendants take issue with these exam-
ples because they did not lead to false arrests, but the 
Court finds that because they concern citizens’ First 
Amendment rights, these incidents are sufficient to 
show a “persistent, widespread practice” at the plead-
ing stage.11 Thus, Plaintiff has met her burden of 
pleading the existence of a policy or custom at the  
motion to dismiss stage. 

 
11 This does not mean that Plaintiff will ultimately prevail 

on this issue—the Court finds merely that Plaintiff has met her 
burden at the pleading stage. 
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C. “Moving Force” 

Plaintiff has also adequately pled a violation of 
constitutional rights whose “moving force” is the pol-
icy or custom. For purposes of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, 
when it comes to alleging causation or “moving force,” 
it is enough that the plaintiff pleads that the policy 
was the reason for the arrest. See Groden, 826 F.3d 
at 286–87. Plaintiff has alleged that the “actions un-
dertaken or ratified by the City constitute the moving 
force behind the retaliatory arrest aimed at Sylvia’s 
exercise of her First Amendment rights, which caused 
harm to Sylvia, including, but not limited to damage 
to her reputation, her health, her financial circum-
stances, and other adverse effects.” (Dkt. # 1.) She 
further alleges that “[h]ad it not been for the retalia-
tory animus, the City would have never caused, per-
mitted, or approved Sylvia’s arrest for championing a 
nonbinding citizens’ petition that did nothing other 
than express public discontent with the city govern-
ment.” (Id.) Further, Defendants’ argument that 
Plaintiff cannot plead causation because there was 
probable cause for the arrest is foreclosed by Lozman, 
as described above. Because Plaintiff has adequately 
pled all of the requirements for her Monell claim, the 
Court denies Defendants’ motion to dismiss Plaintiff’s 
municipal liability claim. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, Defendants’ Motion 
to Dismiss Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) (Dkt. # 13) is  
DENIED. 
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IT IS SO ORDERED. 

DATE: San Antonio, Texas, March 12, 2021. 

 
 
 
_________________________________ 
David Alan Ezra 
Senior United States District Judge 
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Plaintiff Sylvia Gonzalez hereby sues the City of 
Castle Hills, Texas (“Castle Hills” or “City”); and Ed-
ward “JR” Trevino, II, John Siemens, and Alexander 
Wright (collectively, “Individual Defendants”) for 
their deprivation of her rights under the First and 
Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Consti-
tution. 

Introduction 

1. After being elected to the Castle Hills city 
council, Sylvia Gonzalez participated in organizing a 
nonbinding citizens’ petition to urge the removal of 
Ryan Rapelye from his position as the Castle Hills 
city manager. 

2. Getting wind of Sylvia’s efforts and assuming 
she was the driving force behind the petition, Defend-
ant Castle Hills and the Individual Defendants (col-
lectively, “Defendants”) adopted a plan to retaliate 
against Sylvia for her protected speech, resulting in 
Sylvia’s arrest on manufactured misdemeanor 
charges of tampering with a government record. 

3. This lawsuit seeks redress for that unconsti-
tutional arrest. 

4. Defendants charged Sylvia under a statute 
that has never before or since been used to arrest in-
dividuals similarly situated to Sylvia. 

5. Sylvia’s arrest was unlawful because it was 
engineered and executed as part of a high-level policy 
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to retaliate against Sylvia’s exercise of political 
speech. 

6. This was a long-term and pervasive policy 
and involved significant deliberations—outside of 
split-second decision making—by high-level officials. 

7. Defendants succeeded in their attempts to 
punish and intimidate Sylvia, who, at the age of 72, 
made history as the City’s first Hispanic council-
woman. 

8. Sylvia, with her reputation ruined and her 
pocketbook significantly diminished, has been so 
traumatized by the experience that she will never 
again help organize a petition or participate in any 
other public expression of her political speech. She 
will also never again run for any political office. 

9. There is nothing more fundamental to our 
system of government than its founding principle that 
the First Amendment protects political speech. This 
principle means little if local governments and their 
officials can—without consequence—punish and in-
timidate those who engage in political speech. This 
suit is filed in defense of this principle and to ensure the 
constitutional accountability of all government officials.  

Jurisdiction and Venue 

10. This is a civil rights case brought under 42 
U.S.C. § 1983, and the First and Fourteenth Amend-
ments to the United States Constitution. 
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11. This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C.  
§§ 1331, 1343, 2201, and 2202. 

12. Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. 
§ 1391. 

The Parties 

13. Plaintiff Sylvia Gonzalez is a citizen of the 
United States and long-time resident of Castle Hills, 
Texas. 

14. Defendant City of Castle Hills, Texas, is a Type 
A general-law municipality located in Bexar County, 
Texas. The City’s governing body consists of a mayor 
and five aldermen, commonly referred to as coun-
cilmembers. The City has adopted the city-manager 
form of government and delegated extensive authority 
to its city manager. 

15. Defendant Edward “JR” Trevino, II, is the 
mayor of Castle Hills. 

16. Defendant John (“Johnny”) Siemens is the 
chief of the Castle Hills police department and was ap-
pointed to that position by a city manager. 

17. Defendant Alexander (“Alex”) Wright is a prac-
ticing attorney who, although not a police officer by 
trade, acted as a special detective with the police de-
partment. On June 18, 2019, he was assigned by de-
fendant police chief Siemens to investigate a complaint 
against Sylvia made by defendant mayor Trevino. The 
City has carried Wright’s law enforcement commission 
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for many years, even though Wright is not an active 
duty officer and is not employed by the City.  

Statement of Facts 

Sylvia 

18. Sylvia Gonzalez is 74 years old. 

19. She comes from a law-enforcement family ded-
icated to public service. 

20. Sylvia’s father was a police officer. 

21. Sylvia’s daughter is a police officer. 

22. Sylvia’s niece and cousins are police officers. 

23. Other than the charge at issue in this case, Syl-
via has no criminal record. 

24. After a fulfilling career in communications, Syl-
via successfully ran for a seat on the Castle Hills city 
council and spoke out against the politically powerful in 
her small hometown by criticizing city manager Ryan 
Rapelye and participating in an effort to organize a non-
binding citizens’ petition to remove him from office. 

25. After Defendants learned about Sylvia’s criti-
cisms of Rapelye and assumed she was the driving force 
behind the petition advocating for his removal, they de-
veloped a plan to punish and intimidate Sylvia in retal-
iation for her political speech. The plan culminated in 
Sylvia’s arrest under a misdemeanor statute for pur-
portedly trying to steal the petition she herself 



103a 

Appendix D 

 

championed. The statute has never been used to arrest 
a person in an analogous situation 

26. Defendants intended for Sylvia—a harmless 
and peaceful woman in her seventies, who presented 
no threat to anyone and was no risk of flight— to 
spend the day in jail. That’s why they obtained a war-
rant, instead of a summons, and also bypassed the 
Bexar County district attorney’s office—the default 
practice for those accused of nonviolent crimes, which 
would have afforded Sylvia an opportunity to be pro-
cessed through a satellite booking, rather than going 
to jail. As it happens, the district attorney’s office, 
upon later review, dismissed the charges against Syl-
via. 

Castle Hills  

27. Defendant Castle Hills is a city with fewer 
than 5,000 residents. 

28. The City’s government is controlled by a 
small group of politically powerful people (including 
the mayor, chief of police, and city manager). 

29. The mayor of Castle Hills is an elected posi-
tion. The mayor serves as the presiding officer of the 
city council. The mayor casts a tie-breaking vote on 
the city council and has the power to call special coun-
cil meetings. 

30. The chief of police of Castle Hills is appointed 
by the city manager and reports to the city manager. 
The appointment is subject to approval by the city 
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council. The chief of police is in charge of the police 
department and oversees its operations and budget. 
Among other duties, the chief of police oversees crim-
inal investigations. 

31. The Castle Hills city council is the five-mem-
ber executive body of the City. The members are 
elected for two-year terms. They vote to set policy, 
adopt the City’s budget, approve purchases and con-
tracts, and review laws. They also appoint executive 
officials, such as the city manager and city attorney. 

32. The city manager of Castle Hills is appointed 
for an indefinite period by the city council and is in 
charge of most day-to-day decision-making. The city 
manager’s powers include ensuring enforcement of all 
city laws; receiving and accounting for all city mon-
eys; managing city contracts; appointing and remov-
ing department heads and subordinate city employ-
ees; preparing the city budget; and acting as the edi-
tor of the city newsletter, The Reporter. 

33. The city attorney for Castle Hills is appointed 
by the city council. The city attorney serves as a legal 
adviser to the council, the city manager, and all other 
officers, boards, and departments of the City. Among 
other duties, the city attorney reviews articles pub-
lished in the city newsletter, The Reporter. 

Sylvia Runs for Office 

34. When Sylvia decided to run for office, she was 
prepared for a grueling campaign to unseat her 
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opponent, who was a well-connected incumbent sup-
ported by the City and the Individual Defendants. 

35. Sylvia campaigned house-to-house, knocking 
on countless doors and personally meeting with more 
than 500 Castle Hills families. 

36. Sylvia was not prepared, however, for the de-
gree of negative feedback she would receive about the 
City during her campaigning. 

37. Castle Hills residents complained to Sylvia 
about corruption and other problems with the City 
and the Individual Defendants. 

38. Although she did not know him personally, 
Sylvia was deeply disturbed by stories about city 
manager Ryan Rapelye. 

39. As one example, Sylvia heard that Rapelye 
had falsely accused his secretary of stealing city doc-
uments, having her detained by Castle Hills police, 
and forcing her to take a lie detector test before firing 
her. 

40. While campaigning, Sylvia also heard allega-
tions that the City and the Individual Defendants 
were steering city policy and resources away from res-
ident services and toward enriching city employees. 

41. Beyond the stories, many residents conveyed 
frustration with Castle Hills government and with 
city manager Rapelye. One resident suggested Sylvia 
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organize a petition to express discontent with 
Rapelye’s performance. 

Sylvia Wins the Election 

42. On May 4, 2019, Sylvia was elected as the 
first Hispanic councilwoman in Castle Hills history. 

43. On May 14, 2019, Sylvia was sworn in as a 
member of the council by Bexar County sheriff Javier 
Salazar. 

44. City attorney Schnall was present at Sylvia’s 
swearing-in ceremony. 

45. Schnall did not object to any part of the swear-
ing-in, and even applauded at the completion of the 
ceremony. 

Sylvia Takes Office and Takes on the City and 
the Individual Defendants. 

46. As her first act in office, Sylvia participated 
in organizing a citizen- signed, nonbinding petition 
calling for the removal of city manager Rapelye from 
office. See Exhibit A, the Petition. 

47. The petition was a pure expression of political 
speech. It had no legal force. It was designed to simply 
express the discontent of Sylvia’s constituents with 
Rapelye’s performance as city manager and was 
signed by more than 300 Castle Hills residents. 
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48. The petition had six concise bullet points and 
was titled “FIX OUR STREETS Reinstate former City 
Manager Diane Pfeil.” Id. 

49. The petition proposed that city council replace 
Rapelye with Diane Pfeil, a previous city manager 
who had been removed from office after repeatedly 
clashing with defendant Siemens (deputy police chief 
at the time) and defendant Trevino (then a coun-
cilmember), including over the use of civil forfeiture 
funds. Id. 

50. In addition, one of the bullet points in the peti-
tion criticized “various city managers” who came after 
Diane Pfeil for “ma[king] up priority lists and pa[ying] 
for expensive engineering studies.” “None,” the peti-
tion continued, “have fixed a single street.” Id. 
Rapelye is one of the various city managers who came 
after Diane Pfeil. 

51. Defendants mistakenly believed that Sylvia 
collected all of the 300-plus signatures, even though 
she personally obtained just a fraction of this total 
number. 

52. Not everyone who heard from Sylvia signed 
her petition. Chalene Martinez, a resident with con-
nections to the City and the Individual Defendants, 
declined to sign. 

53. On May 21, 2019—Sylvia’s first council meet-
ing—a resident submitted the petition to the city 
council 
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54. To Sylvia’s surprise, the City and the Individ-
ual Defendants expected its submission. 

55. Citizens with connections to the City and the 
Individual Defendants, including Mike Flinn, Bonnie 
Hopke, and Robbie Casey, attended the council meet-
ing and testified against the petition. 

56. Chalene Martinez—a citizen who had refused 
to sign the petition when asked by Sylvia—also testi-
fied in opposition to the petition. 

57. According to Martinez, Sylvia asked her to 
sign the petition “under false pretenses.” 

58. Martinez did not elaborate further. 

59. Due to its contentiousness, the meeting was 
ultimately carried over to the next day, May 22, 2019. 

60. The May 22 meeting remained tense, while 
the city council argued over city manager Rapelye’s 
job performance. 

61. Importantly, Sylvia and defendant mayor 
Trevino sat next to each other at the council table dur-
ing council meetings. 

62. When the meeting was finally over, Sylvia got 
ready to go, picking up all of the hand-outs on her side 
of the dais and placing them in her binder. 

63. Before she could leave, the city council secre-
tary walked up to Sylvia and told her that Amy 
McLin— the incumbent unseated by Sylvia—had an 
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immediate open records request for Sylvia and was 
waiting to give it to her. 

64. Sylvia left her belongings—including her doc-
ument binder—on the dais, and went to talk to McLin, 
who asked Sylvia for all the notes Sylvia took during 
the May 21 meeting related to the questions Sylvia 
asked of Rapelye. 

65. Sylvia responded that she threw away the 
post-its but that if McLin wanted to hear the ques-
tions, they were available on the Castle Hills’ 
YouTube channel. 

66. Sylvia’s fellow councilmember, Clyde “Skip” 
McCormick, who was standing next to McLin, threat-
ened to have Sylvia arrested and “sent to federal 
prison” if she didn’t hand over a copy of her meeting 
notes. 

67. During this entire conversation, Sylvia was 
standing with her back to the dais. 

68. At some point during the conversation, a po-
lice officer in charge of the safety—Captain Steve E. 
Zuniga—tapped on Sylvia’s shoulder and told her that 
defendant mayor Trevino wanted to talk to her. Ex-
hibit B, Castle Hills Police Department Offense/Inci-
dent Report, at 5. 

69. Sylvia turned around and, escorted by Zuniga 
(which she found rather strange), went back to the 
dais, where defendant Trevino and she had been sit-
ting next to each other during the meeting. 
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70. With Captain Zuniga by his side, defendant 
Trevino asked Sylvia: “Where’s the petition?” 

71. Sylvia replied: “Don’t you have it? It was 
turned in to you yesterday.” 

72. Responding in the negative, defendant Tre-
vino then asked Sylvia to look for the petition in her 
binder. 

73. Sylvia did and, much to her surprise, found 
the petition there. 

74. When Sylvia handed the petition to defend-
ant Trevino, he stated: “You probably picked it up by 
mistake.” 

75. The two parted ways, with Sylvia not think-
ing much of the encounter. 

76. Sylvia did not intentionally put the petition 
in her binder. 

77. Sylvia never left the council room with the pe-
tition. Indeed, she never even left the council table 
with the petition. 

78. Sylvia had worked hard to help organize the 
petition and ensure its submission to city council. The 
petition gave more force to Sylvia’s own judgment that 
the city manager was not doing a good job. It would 
have been entirely illogical for Sylvia to try to take 
back the petition. 
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Castle Hills and the Individual Defendants Re-
taliate Against Sylvia, Ultimately Securing Her 
Arrest. 

79. The City and the Individual Defendants 
learned about Sylvia’s petition from supporters like 
Chalene Martinez, whom Sylvia approached for her 
signature. 

80. The City and the Individual Defendants, act-
ing under color of Texas law and cloaked in authority 
from Castle Hills, then developed a comprehensive 
plan to punish and deter Sylvia based on her political 
expression. The plan was to give Sylvia a taste of her 
own medicine by removing her from the city council. 

81. Castle Hills councilmember McCormick 
wrote about the Defendants’ plan in the City’s news-
letter, distributed to residents on July 17, 2019, but 
written weeks ahead of time. To remove a council 
member, he said, residents could sue them for official 
misconduct or incompetency. Alternatively, if a coun-
cilmember is convicted of a felony or a misdemeanor 
involving official misconduct, it would operate as an 
immediate removal from office. Exhibit C, The Castle 
Hills Reporter, at 5-6 (July/August 2019). 

82. As the editor of the City’s newsletter, city 
manager Rapelye saw the article well in advance of 
its publication. 

83. As a reviewer of the City’s newsletter, city at-
torney Schnall also saw the article well in advance of 
its publication. 
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84. In addition to the two options provided by 
councilmember McCormick, the City and the Individ-
ual Defendants developed a third: retaliate against 
Sylvia’s speech by directly removing her from office 
through a manufactured technical failure in her 
swearing-in. 

85. The City and the Individual Defendants were 
motivated to punish Sylvia for her speech—and deter 
future speech—based on the content of that speech. 

86. Had the City and the Individual Defendants 
not harbored retaliatory animus toward Sylvia’s 
speech, they would have never acted on any one of the 
three options in their plan. 

Option 1: Charge Sylvia with a crime and ar-
rest her. 

87. As described in councilmember McCormick’s 
article, the surest way to remove a council member is 
by obtaining a criminal conviction against her. 

88. To punish Sylvia for championing the petition 
and to deter her from the future exercise of her First 
Amendment rights, the City and the Individual De-
fendants developed and executed a plan to manufac-
ture criminal charges against Sylvia and have her 
thrown in jail. 

89. On May 24, 2019—two days after defendant 
mayor Trevino, with Captain Zuniga by his side, con-
fronted Sylvia about purportedly stealing the petition 
that she supported—defendant police chief Siemens 
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told another police officer— Sergeant Paul Turner—
that defendant Trevino would be contacting the of-
ficer “in reference to the filing of a criminal complaint” 
against Sylvia, which defendant Trevino subse-
quently did. Exhibit B, at 4. 

90. After the complaint was filed, Sergeant 
Turner began his investigation by going to the homes 
of people who signed the petition and questioning 
them about this act of civil expression. 

91. Many of these individuals whom Sergeant 
Turner approached said they felt threatened by his ac-
tions and questions, as it was difficult to understand 
why a police officer would be knocking on their doors 
and challenging their signatures on a nonbinding pe-
tition, with no force other than an expression of polit-
ical thought. 

92. On June 18, 2019—with Sergeant Turner’s 
investigation going nowhere—the City and the Indi-
vidual Defendants changed strategy. Defendant Sie-
mens turned to a trusted friend, defendant special de-
tective Alex Wright, to take over Sergeant Turner’s 
investigation. 

93. Defendant Wright is a private attorney, not a 
professional police officer, although he is a commis-
sioned police officer in Texas and the Castle Hills Po-
lice Department has paid to carry defendant Wright’s 
commission for years. 

94. While it is often true that in sensitive political 
cases local district attorneys employ private lawyers 
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to act as special prosecutors, these lawyers are not 
deputized as police officers, cannot be affiants for war-
rants, and cannot walk warrants (bypassing local dis-
trict attorneys in doing so). 

95. Defendant Wright—with the authorization 
provided to him by defendant Siemens—did all three. 
And defendant Wright did not act as a special prose-
cutor, he was tasked with investigating Sylvia as a 
detective. 

96. As part of his month-long investigation into 
Sylvia, defendant Wright interviewed defendant Tre-
vino, Captain Zuniga, and city manager Rapelye. 

97. Following his investigation, the only charge 
defendant Wright could come up with was a Class A 
misdemeanor for tampering with a government rec-
ord, for supposedly attempting to steal a petition that 
Sylvia herself championed. Tex. Penal Code  
§ 37.10(a)(3), (c)(1). 

98. Defendants made the most of this charge, 
however, by doing three distinct things to ensure that 
Sylvia would be jailed based on it, rather than simply 
asked to appear before a judge. 

99. First, Defendants chose to obtain a warrant, 
rather than a summons— the procedure normally re-
served for people suspected of nonviolent crime. Un-
like warrants, summonses do not require a trip to jail. 

100. Second, Defendants didn’t just obtain a war-
rant through normal channels, by going through the 
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district attorney (the “DA”). Instead, they circum-
vented the DA by using a procedure typically reserved 
for violent felonies or emergency situations and 
walked the warrant directly to a magistrate. When 
the DA’s office finally learned of the charges and re-
viewed them, it dismissed them. 

101. Third, by using the procedure that circum-
vented the DA, Defendants also ensured that Sylvia 
would not be able to avoid jail by taking advantage of 
the satellite booking function, provided by the Bexar 
County jail system to weed out nonviolent offenses. 
This function allows individuals with outstanding 
warrants to be booked, processed, and released with-
out being jailed. Because Sylvia’s warrant was not ac-
quired through the traditional channels, it was not 
discoverable through the satellite office’s computer 
system, leaving Sylvia no option other than jail. 

102. It was bad enough that Sylvia was jailed for 
a nonviolent offense. Even worse, the charge itself 
was a sham, since the statute it utilized was never 
before used to charge people on facts even remotely 
similar to Sylvia’s. 

103. According to defendant Wright’s affidavit, 
Sylvia violated the misdemeanor statute because she 
tried to steal the petition she herself championed. As 
evidence of the attempt, the affidavit, provided by De-
fendant Wright to a magistrate, used the brief, incon-
clusive statements made by Chalene Martinez during 
the meeting on May 21, as well as the allegations 
made by defendant Trevino in his complaint. The af-
fidavit also accused Sylvia of being openly 
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antagonistic toward city manager Rapelye. The affi-
davit did not dispute that Sylvia was expressing po-
litical speech. The issue was that this speech was in-
tended to oust defendant Rapelye from his job. In-
deed, the affidavit shows that Sylvia’s speech was the 
motivation behind defendant Wright’s investigation: 

a. “From her very first [council] meeting in 
May of 2019, [Sylvia] (along with another 
alderwoman) has been openly antagonistic 
to the city manager, Ryan Rapelye, wanting 
desperately to get him fired.” 

b. “Part of her plan to oust Mr. Rapelye in-
volved collecting signatures on several peti-
tions to that effect.” 

c. “Gonzalez had personally gone to [a resi-
dent’s] house on May 13, 2019, to get her 
signature on one of the petitions under false 
pretenses, by misleading her, and by telling 
her several fabrications regarding Ryan 
Rapelye . . . .” 

Exhibit D, Defendant Wright’s Complaint/Affidavit 
for Warrant of Arrest, at 2, 5 (citing defendant 
Wright’s interviews with defendant Trevino and Ms. 
Martinez). 

104. Importantly, there was no need to examine 
Sylvia’s speech in order to determine whether there 
was probable cause to arrest her for theft. 
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105. Furthermore, a review of misdemeanor and 
felony data from Bexar County over the past decade 
makes it clear that the misdemeanor tampering stat-
ute has never been used in Bexar County to criminally 
charge someone for trying to steal a nonbinding or ex-
pressive document. 

106. Of 215 grand jury felony indictments ob-
tained under the tampering statute at issue in this 
case, not one had an allegation even closely resem-
bling the one mounted against Sylvia. By far the larg-
est chunk of the indictments involved accusations of 
either using or making fake government identifica-
tion documents: altered driver’s licenses, another per-
son’s ID, temporary identification cards, public safety 
permits, green cards, or social security numbers. A 
few others concerned the misuse of financial infor-
mation, like writing of fake checks or stealing bank-
ing information. The rest are outliers, but all very dif-
ferent from Sylvia’s situation. They concern hiding ev-
idence of murder, cheating on a government-issued 
exam, and using a fake certificate of title, among oth-
ers. 

107. Misdemeanor data is even more unremarka-
ble. In each case available for review, the alleged tam-
pering involved the use of fake social security num-
bers, driver’s licenses, and green cards. 

108. The data, as well as the availability of proce-
dures designed to allow people suspected of nonvio-
lent offenses avoid going to jail, are clear: Defendants 
only had Sylvia arrested because they were harboring 
retaliatory animus toward her and wanted to punish 
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her for speaking out against city manager Rapelye 
and the entrenched interests of the City and the Indi-
vidual Defendants he represented. 

109. Had the City and the Individual Defendants 
lacked retaliatory animus, the Defendants would not 
have devised, adopted, or implemented their plan, 
which resulted in Sylvia’s arrest. 

110. Sylvia learned about a warrant for her arrest 
when she was in a doctor’s office, waiting for her ap-
pointment. 

111. As the receptionist called her name, a neigh-
bor called Sylvia on her cellphone and told her that 
she should turn herself in. 

112. Explaining to the receptionist that she had an 
emergency and had to leave, Sylvia went downstairs 
and waited for her husband to pick her up. 

113. The two septuagenarians then drove to the 
county jail. 

114. The 72-year-old councilwoman was booked on 
July 18, 2019, spending a terrifying day in jail, sitting, 
handcuffed, on a cold metal bench, wearing an orange 
jail shirt, and avoiding using the restroom, which had 
no doors and no toilet-paper holders. The entire time 
there, she was not allowed to stand up and stretch her 
legs. 

115. For someone who doesn’t even have a speed-
ing ticket on her record, this was quite an experience. 
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116. Sylvia’s name and mugshot were splashed 
across local media for days, and they are still on the 
internet. 

Option 2: Remove Sylvia from office for a 
made-up technicality. 

117. While defendant Wright was buying time 
during his month-long investigation of Sylvia, the 
City and the Individual Defendants were considering 
alternative options to retaliate against Sylvia for her 
political speech. After all, their ultimate retaliatory 
goal was to intimidate, punish, and silence Sylvia by 
removing her from office. One way of achieving it was 
by arresting her and throwing her in jail. Another was 
by trying to remove Sylvia directly. 

118. On July 9, 2019, right before Sylvia ap-
proached her seat at the council table, city attorney 
Schnall pulled Sylvia into a room with one of his law 
partners, as well as defendant mayor Trevino and a 
non-resident friend of the mayor, where Schnall told 
Sylvia that she was not qualified to be a member of 
city council because she had been sworn in by a sher-
iff. To support his statement, Schnall invoked the 
Texas Government Code, according to which “[a]n 
oath . . . may be administered” by a sheriff, provided 
it is done when the sheriff “is engaged in the perfor-
mance of the [sheriff’s] duties” and “the administra-
tion of the oath relates to the [sheriff’s] duties.” Tex. 
Gov’t Code § 602.002(17). Schnall argued that when 
sheriff Salazar swore in Sylvia, he was doing neither. 
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119. Remarkably, Schnall—the city attorney, pre-
sent at council meetings to ensure that necessary le-
gal requirements are followed—had attended Sylvia’s 
swearing-in by sheriff Salazar and raised no concerns 
at the time. Instead, he watched approvingly from 
mere feet away as Sylvia took her oath of office, ap-
plauding when she concluded. 

120. But now, motivated by retaliatory animus to-
ward Sylvia, city attorney Schnall with the support of 
defendant Trevino declared that Sylvia had been im-
properly sworn in and was not qualified to remain in 
her seat on the council. Further, because more than 
30 days had elapsed since Sylvia’s election, Schnall 
stated that Sylvia could not be resworn. Instead, she 
had to be replaced by the Defendant’s ally Amy 
McLin, whom Sylvia had beaten in the election. 

121. Sylvia’s de facto removal by Schnall and de-
fendant Trevino was not ratified by a vote of the city 
council as would have been required under Texas law. 
Instead, when the issue was raised at a council meet-
ing, Schnall said it was not properly before the council 
and could not be taken up. 

122. Evidencing the retaliatory purpose of Sylvia’s 
removal, Defendants had not attempted to take simi-
lar actions against council members who had been 
sworn in by sheriffs in the past, including two who 
were sworn in by a sheriff in 2014 and served out their 
terms without incident. 

123. More to the point, Defendants also did not 
question the legitimacy of defendant mayor Trevino’s 
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seat, even though he was sworn in by the Bexar 
County Precinct 3 commissioner Kevin A. Wolff. Just 
like with the sheriffs, the Texas Government Code 
qualifies the purpose for which commissioners can ad-
minister oaths of office, limiting it to “a matter per-
taining to a duty of the . . . commission.” Tex. Gov’t 
Code § 602.002(6). If it is questionable whether a sher-
iff’s administration of the oath relates to the sheriff’s 
duties and falls within their scope, it is also question-
able whether a commissioner’s administration of 
the oath is a matter pertaining to a duty of the 
commission. Yet, city attorney Schnall did not ques-
tion the mayor’s legitimacy, even though he and Syl-
via were sworn in on the same day. 

124. Determined to address the concern and move 
on, Sylvia got resworn by a notary at a bank. She and 
her friend then went to the city manager’s office to 
turn in the certificate, proving that she did so. As she 
was walking out the door, Sylvia overheard city man-
ager Rapelye complain to someone: “You know what 
she did? She campaigned against me!” 

125. Sylvia also contested Defendants’ decision to 
order her removal by securing a special council meet-
ing to take up the issue on July 17, 2019. That’s when 
the City and the Individual Defendants knew that the 
simple route of direct removal was not going to be so 
simple. 

126. So, on this same day, July 17, 2019, defendant 
Wright circumvented the Bexar County DA and 
walked the warrant for Sylvia’s arrest to a judge. The 
following day Sylvia was arrested. 
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127. After she was released from jail on bond, Syl-
via sought a temporary restraining order against Cas-
tle Hills and Schnall enjoining her removal. A court 
granted the order the day after her filing, on July 23, 
2019. 

Option 3: File a civil lawsuit against Sylvia to 
keep her off city council. 

128. After a judge temporarily enjoined Defend-
ants’ attempt to unilaterally remove Sylvia from 
council on July 23, 2019, six Castle Hills residents, 
including Mike Flinn, Robbie Casey, and Bonnie 
Hopke—the three residents who, along with Chalene 
Martinez, testified against Sylvia’s petition—filed a 
lawsuit in the name of the State of Texas to remove 
Sylvia for incompetence and official misconduct. 

129. Ironically, and further evidencing the exist-
ence of a high-level plan, criminal charges filed 
against Sylvia in retaliation for her political speech 
were cited as the main reason warranting Sylvia’s re-
moval. 

130. As with the Defendants’ use of the criminal 
process, the residents’ use of the civil process circum-
vented the district attorney’s office. 

131. And as with the Defendants’ use of the crimi-
nal process, when the district attorney learned of the 
residents’ use of the civil process, he filed a motion to 
dismiss the action, stating that “removal may only 
proceed with the intervention of the District Attorney 
to represent the interest of the state” and that “the 
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Bexar County Criminal District Attorney declines to 
further prosecute this removal.” 

132. When the six residents filed their objections 
to the motion of nonsuit, the district attorney further 
elaborated that “after a careful and independent in-
vestigation [it determined that] neither the criminal 
charges against Defendants not this Chapter 21 re-
moval action should proceed.” 

133. After a district court judge dismissed the case 
and denied the motion for new trial, the six residents 
appealed this determination. As of the date of this 
complaint, their appeal is still pending. 

134. When Sylvia’s attorneys—and later a trusted 
friend—reached out to Mike Flinn’s counsel on her be-
half, asking for Sylvia to be released from the law-
suit— since she was no longer on the city council and 
had already spent around $70,000 in attorney’s 
fees—the counsel refused. During one of these con-
versations, Flinn’s counsel conditioned the release 
from the lawsuit on Sylvia signing an affidavit stating 
that she would never again run for the city council. 

135. Despite being initially unsuccessful in (1) ob-
taining a criminal indictment against Sylvia, (2) re-
moving her from office based on the claim of being im-
properly sworn in, and (3) having a civil lawsuit filed 
to remove Sylvia, Defendants succeeded in their ulti-
mate goal of intimidating and punishing Sylvia in re-
taliation for her political speech. Sylvia is no longer 
on the city council—since she could not afford never-
ending attorney’s fees caused by her arrest and by 
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Schnall’s and citizens’ attempts to remove her— and 
will never again help organize a petition or participate 
in any other public expression of her political speech. 
She will also never again run for any political office. 

Injury to Plaintiff 

Defendants Have Severely Harmed Sylvia. 

136. The retaliatory arrest manufactured by the 
City and the Individual Defendants directly and prox-
imately caused severe harms to Sylvia, including but 
not limited to: 

a. The harm to Sylvia’s reputation. Sylvia’s 
mugshot was displayed repeatedly in the 
media, both in her community and beyond. 
She was the subject of repeated news arti-
cles about her wrongful arrest. To this day, 
harmful and embarrassing news articles 
with Sylvia’s mugshot appear when one 
searches for her on the internet. This harm 
continues to this day and is likely to con-
tinue in the future. 

b. The harm to her future opportunities. Syl-
via’s arrest is a matter of public record. If 
she were to ever apply for a job (which is in-
creasingly likely even for senior citizens, in 
times of economic uncertainly) or for public 
benefits, her chances of succeeding would be 
significantly diminished due to her criminal 
record. See Elisha Jain, Arrests as Regula-
tion, 67 Stan. L. Rev. 809, 810 (2015); see 
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also Gary Fields & John R. Emshwiller, 
Opinion, As Arrest Records Rise, Ameri-
cans Find Consequences Can Last a Life-
time, Wall St. J. (Aug. 18, 2014), 
https://www.wsj.com/articles/as-arrest-rec-
ords-rise-americans-find- consequences-can-
last-a-lifetime-1408415402?st=cj2xuywlkths 
mji. 

c. The harm to her pocketbook. Sylvia had to 
pay a fee to be released from jail, a bonds-
man to secure her bond, and tens of thou-
sands of dollars to lawyers to defend against 
the criminal charges. 

d. The harm to her faith in the criminal justice 
system. Defendants’ actions caused Sylvia 
to lose faith in the criminal justice system 
and law enforcement in Castle Hills, a place 
where she lives and where her family has 
worked in law enforcement. 

e. The harm to her physical health. Stress 
brought on by the worry about her criminal 
prosecution led to many sleepless nights as 
well as anxiety-filled days, resulting in the 
overall deterioration of Sylvia’s physical 
health. 

 

 

 

http://www.wsj.com/articles/as-arrest-records-rise-americans-find-
http://www.wsj.com/articles/as-arrest-records-rise-americans-find-


126a 

Appendix D 

 

Causes of Action 

Count I 
42 U.S.C. § 1983—First and Fourteenth  

Amendments 
(Retaliatory Arrest Claim Against Individual 

Defendants Trevino, Siemens, and Wright) 

137. Sylvia realleges and incorporates by refer-
ence the allegations in Paragraphs 1 through 136 of 
this complaint, as if fully stated herein. 

138. Sylvia’s actions in championing the creation, 
signature, and submission of a nonbinding citizens’ 
petition and urging the removal of city manager 
Rapelye from his job are safeguarded by the First 
Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

139. Using their respective authorities under color 
of state law, the Individual Defendants subjected Syl-
via to the deprivation of her rights under the First 
Amendment by retaliating against her for exercising 
those rights. 

140. Motivated to punish and intimidate Sylvia for 
her exercise of free speech, the Individual Defendants 
engaged in various harmful acts against Sylvia in vi-
olation of clearly established First Amendment law, 
resulting in her arrest. These acts include: 

a. Defendant Trevino lodging a baseless theft 
complaint against Sylvia and participating 
in and encouraging a criminal investigation 
and the institution of criminal charges 
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against Sylvia for her involvement with the 
petition. 

b. Defendant Siemens instigating and over-
seeing a full criminal investigation and in-
stitution of criminal charges against Sylvia 
for an ostensible crime related to defendant 
Trevino’s theft complaint. 

c. Defendants Siemens and Trevino bringing 
in defendant Wright and tasking him with 
investigating Sylvia and manufacturing 
criminal charges against her. 

d. Defendant Wright conducting a full crimi-
nal investigation of Sylvia under a “Tam-
pering with Governmental Record” statute 
that is never used against individuals simi-
larly situated to Sylvia; swearing out a mis-
leading criminal complaint against Sylvia; 
and proceeding with a criminal arrest pro-
cess meant to intentionally exclude the dis-
trict attorney’s involvement and foreclose 
any avenue for Sylvia to appear before a 
court—either by way of a summons or 
through the satellite office—rather than be 
jailed. 

141. The foregoing are actions independently un-
constitutional but also were intended to send a warn-
ing to anyone else in Castle Hills bold enough to chal-
lenge the Individual Defendants’ grip on power by ex-
ercising their First Amendment rights. 
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142. It is clearly established that retaliating 
against individuals by arresting them under a law 
that is generally not used to arrest similarly-situated 
individuals is a violation of the First Amendment. 
Every reasonable government official would have had 
a fair warning that doing so and participating in a 
scheme to do so is unconstitutional. 

143. It is furthermore clearly established that re-
taliating against individuals by engaging in the vari-
ous harmful acts described in Paragraph 140 is a vio-
lation of the First Amendment. Every reasonable gov-
ernment official would have had a fair warning that 
doing so and participating in a scheme to do so is un-
constitutional. 

144. The facts also demonstrate that the criminal 
charge the Individual Defendants assigned to Sylvia 
was a sham charge, regardless of attempts to fabricate 
probable cause or convince a judge to sign an arrest 
warrant. Thus, even if probable cause existed, the ap-
plication of an unenforced law to Sylvia is insufficient 
to outweigh the retaliatory animus illustrated by the 
surrounding circumstances. The facts, including the 
exclusion of the district attorney and his later dismis-
sal of defendant Wright’s charges against Sylvia, can-
not objectively justify Sylvia’s arrest. 

145. No other similarly situated individuals have 
ever been charged or arrested as Sylvia was. 

146. Moreover, the Individual Defendants were 
not acting under time constraint and made no split-
second decisions regarding Sylvia’s arrest. 
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147. Furthermore, Sylvia’s protected speech is not 
a legitimate consideration in determining whether to 
make an arrest based on the claim that she tried to 
steal the petition. 

148. The Individual Defendants’ unconstitutional 
acts, motivated by retaliatory animus, directly 
harmed Sylvia by chilling her ability to exercise her 
First Amendment rights and by causing her pecuni-
ary loss and the deterioration of her health. 

149. Had it not been for the retaliatory animus, 
the Individual Defendants would have never arrested 
Sylvia for her actions related to supporting a nonbind-
ing citizens’ petition that did nothing other than ex-
press public discontent with the city government. 

Count II 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 – First and Fourteenth  
Amendments 

(Retaliatory Arrest Claim against the City of 
Castle Hills) 

150. Sylvia realleges and incorporates by refer-
ence the allegations in Paragraphs 1 through 136 of 
this complaint, as if fully stated herein. 

151. Through the Individual Defendants, as well 
as through city manager Rapelye, city attorney 
Schnall, and councilmember McCormick, Castle Hills 
adopted and enforced an official policy or custom to 
retaliate against Sylvia for her First Amendment ac-
tivities, namely the expression of her political thought 
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through a nonbinding citizens’ petition urging the fir-
ing of city manager Rapelye. 

152. As noted in Count I and elsewhere in the com-
plaint, the City retaliated against Sylvia in violation 
of the First Amendment by concocting a scheme to ar-
rest Sylvia on manufactured misdemeanor charges. 

153. This scheme was a part of an official policy or 
custom that was deliberate, long-term, and pervasive, 
unlike on-the-spot decisions to arrest, sometimes 
made by individual officers in split-second situations. 

154. The decision to arrest Sylvia can also be eas-
ily disentangled from her speech: unlike in some situ-
ations when an officer has to take speech into account 
when determining whether an arrest is warranted 
(for example content of speech could indicate 
whether a suspect is ready to cooperate or presents a 
continuing threat), here, there was no need to consider 
the substance of the petition to determine whether the 
tampering statute was violated. Afterall, the basis for 
Sylvia’s arrest was the allegation that she tried to 
steal her petition. The substance of the petition has 
nothing to do with evaluating whether the theft took 
place. 

155. The actions of the Individual Defendants, as 
well as city manager Rapelye, attorney Schnall, and 
councilmember McCormick are attributable to the 
City. As final policy-makers with final authority, or 
who were delegated final authority, these individuals 
made a deliberate choice to adopt a course of action 
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that retaliated against Sylvia and resulted in her ar-
rest. They also ratified these retaliatory acts. 

156. As city manager—imbued with the authority 
to appoint and supervise all city employees and de-
partments—Rapelye is a municipal policymaker, and 
his decisions and actions described in this complaint 
represent official Castle Hills policy. 

157. As mayor—president of the city council—de-
fendant Trevino is a municipal policymaker, and his 
decisions and actions described in this complaint rep-
resent official Castle Hills policy. 

158. As a council member, McCormick was a mu-
nicipal policymaker, and his decisions and actions de-
scribed in this complaint represent official Castle Hills 
policy. 

159. As police chief—executive head of the police 
department—defendant Siemens is a municipal poli-
cymaker, and his decisions and actions described in 
this complaint represent official Castle Hills policy. 
Alternatively, as policymakers supervising and di-
recting defendant Siemens, city manager Rapelye, 
councilmember McCormick, and defendant Trevino 
ratified defendant Siemens’s actions as municipal pol-
icy. 

160. As special detective—charged directly by de-
fendant Siemens and defendant Trevino with assign-
ing criminal charge to Sylvia—defendant Wright’s de-
cisions and actions described in this complaint repre-
sent official Castle Hills policy. Alternatively, as 
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policymakers supervising and directing defendant 
Wright, defendant Siemens, defendant Trevino, city 
manager Rapelye, and councilmember McCormick 
ratified defendant Wright’s actions as municipal pol-
icy. 

161. As city attorney, who serves as a legal adviser 
to the council, the city manager, and all other depart-
ments of the City, Marc Schnall acted in a way that 
represented official Castle Hills policy. Alternatively, 
as policymakers supervising and directing Schnall, 
defendants Siemens and Trevino, city manager 
Rapelye, and councilmember McCormick ratified 
Schnall’s actions as municipal policy. 

162. The actions undertaken or ratified by the City 
constitute the moving force behind the retaliatory ar-
rest aimed at Sylvia’s exercise of her First Amendment 
rights, which caused harm to Sylvia, including, but 
not limited to damage to her reputation, her health, 
her financial circumstances, and other adverse ef-
fects. 

163. Had it not been for the retaliatory animus, 
the City would have never caused, permitted, or ap-
proved Sylvia’s arrest for championing a nonbinding 
citizens’ petition that did nothing other than express 
public discontent with the city government. 

164. Alternatively, in recent years, there has been 
a persistent and widespread practice by Castle Hills 
of retaliating against city residents who voice criti-
cism of the City or its officials or who petition the City 
for redress of grievances. 
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165. In addition to what happened to Sylvia, Cas-
tle Hills has a history of cracking down on disfavored 
speech. 

166. For example, in 2017 or 2018, a local resident 
organized a petition to advocate for the closing of an 
impound lot in his neighborhood. To intimidate the 
resident and discourage him from submitting the pe-
tition, defendant Trevino—then a council member—
along with the former police chief, the former mayor, 
and the former city manager showed up at the resi-
dent’s home and threatened him. 

167. Similarly, in 2018, when another city resi-
dent put up opposition campaign signs on private 
front yards with owner permission, defendant Tre-
vino’s predecessor called and threatened him with an 
easement violation. “If this is the way y’all want to 
play the game,” said the mayor in a voicemail message, 
“then I can order the police to just go ahead and write 
citations to everybody that has them in the easement 
and kinda, maybe report it that you were the one that 
started this.” 

168. In 2016 and 2018, mayor Trevino, police chief 
Siemens, special detective Wright, and councilmem-
ber McCormick were in positions of power in Castle 
Hills. As such, they—as current policymakers—had 
actual or constructive knowledge of this unconstitu-
tional policy or custom of retaliating against city res-
idents who criticize Castle Hills or its officials or who 
petition the City for redress of grievances. 
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169. But for the City’s policy or custom of retalia-
tion in response to criticism of those in power, Sylvia 
would not have been arrested, had her reputation 
dragged through the mud, subjected to abuse of pro-
cess, and suffered various other harms that further 
serve to chill her First Amendment activities. 

Prayer for Relief 

WHEREFORE, Sylvia Gonzalez seeks a judg-
ment (1) declaring that the City and the Individual 
Defendants violated her rights under the First and 
Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Consti-
tution, and (2) awarding her compensatory and puni-
tive money damages against the City of Castle Hills, 
Texas; Edward “JR” Trevino, II; John Siemens; and 
Alexander Wright. Sylvia also seeks her attorney’s 
fees and costs under 42 U.S.C. § 1988 as well as all 
other and further relief as the Court may deem just 
and proper. 

Jury Demand 

Sylvia Gonzalez demands a trial by jury on all is-
sues triable under Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of 
Civil Procedure. 

Dated: September 29, 2020   Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Anya Bidwell 
Anya Bidwell (TX Bar 
No. 24101516) 
Will Aronin* 
Patrick Jaicomo* 
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INSTITUTE FOR JUSTICE 
901 North Glebe Road, 
Suite 900 
Arlington, VA 22203 
(703) 682-9320 
abidwell@ij.org 
waronin@ij.org 
pjaicomo@ij.org 
* Pro Hac Vice motions 
to be filed 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that, on this 29th day of Sep-
tember, 2020, I electronically filed the Complaint 
with the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system. 

I further certify that I caused a copy of the fore-
going Complaint to be served via process server upon 
the following:  

City of Castle Hills  
209 Lemonwood Drive  
Castle Hills, TX 78213 

Edward “JR” Trevino, II 
209 Lemonwood Drive 
Castle Hills, TX 78213 

John Siemens  
209 Lemonwood Drive 
Castle Hills, TX 78213 

Alexander Wright  
5707 W I-10  
San Antonio, TX 78201 

/s/ Anya Bidwell 
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EXHIBIT A 

PETITION 
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EXHIBIT B 

CASTLE HILLS POLICE DEPARTMENT 
OFFENSE/INCIDENT REPORT 
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EXHIBIT C 

CASTLE HILLS REPORTER NEWSLETTER 
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EXHIBIT D 

COMPLAINT/AFFIDAVIT FOR WARRANT OF ARREST 
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